Seton Hall University

eRepository @ Seton Hall

Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses (ETDs) Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses

Spring 1-31-2023

Visiting Nurses' Knowledge, Attitudes and Beliefs Regarding Telehealth to Promote Medication Compliance in the Elderly Population

Diane Renee Logan Seton Hall University, diane.logan@shu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarship.shu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Nursing Commons

Recommended Citation

Logan, Diane Renee, "Visiting Nurses' Knowledge, Attitudes and Beliefs Regarding Telehealth to Promote Medication Compliance in the Elderly Population" (2023). *Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses (ETDs)*. 3069.

https://scholarship.shu.edu/dissertations/3069

Visiting Nurses' Knowledge, Attitudes and Beliefs Regarding Telehealth to Promote Medication Compliance in the Elderly Population

By

Diane Renee Logan

Dissertation Committee: Dr. Genevieve Pinto Zipp (Chair) Dr. Deborah DeLuca Dr. Kristi Stinson

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy of Health Sciences

Seton Hall University

© 2023 Diane Renee Logan

All Rights Reserved

SETON HALL

SETON HALL UNIVERSITY School of Health and Medical Sciences

APPROVAL FOR SUCCESSFUL DEFENSE

Doctoral Candidate, **Diane Renee Logan**, has successfully defended and made required modifications to the text of the doctoral dissertation for the Ph.D. during the **Spring Semester 2023**.

DISSERTATION COMMITTEE

Chair: Genevieve Pinto Zipp, PT, EdD, FNAP	1/31/23
Committee Member: Kristi J. Stinson	1/31/23
Committee Member: Deborah A. DeLuca, MS, JD	1/31/23

Note: the chair and any other committee members who wish to review revisions will sign and date this document only when revisions have been completed. Please return this form to the Office of Graduate Studies, where it will be placed in the candidate's file and submit a copy with your final dissertation to be bound as page number two.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my Dissertation Committee, Dr. Genevieve Zipp, Dr. Deborah DeLuca and Dr. Kristi Stinson for all of their guidance and support during this Dissertation journey. To my Dissertation Chair, Dr. Genevieve Pinto Zipp, thank you for all your support, patience, guidance, encouragement and for inspiring me to accomplish this goal; without you I would have never reached this point. I would also like to thank my dear friend Dr. Maryann Barra who always stood by my side to give me the encouragement that I needed, and last but not least my family, my daughter Nicole, my son Christian and especially my husband Tim, who always supported and believed in me throughout my many years of furthering my nursing education and achieving my goal of completing my doctorate.

ABSTRACT

VISITING NURSES' KNOWLEDGE, ATTITUDES AND BELIEFS REGARDING TELEHEALTH TO PROMOTE MEDICATION COMPLIANCE IN THE ELDERLY POPULATION

Diane Renee Logan

Seton Hall University, 2023

Dissertation Chair: Genevieve Pinto Zipp, PT, EdD, FNAP

Introduction: Medication noncompliance in the elderly home dwelling adult is a persistent problem resulting in decreased quality of life, hospital readmission within a 30-day period and increased morbidity. Visiting nurses are in a key position to assist the elderly population to employ medication compliance strategies that are tailor-made to fit their individual needs and abilities. The introduction of telehealth technology, while meant to aid elderly home dwelling individuals, may negatively impact the infusion of medication compliance strategies and thus increase medication noncompliance if visiting nurses are not effective in employing this technology.

Aim: The aim of this study is to evaluate visiting nurses' knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs of incorporating telehealth technology while using medication compliance strategies. Once factors are identified future work can seek to design programs to improve the use of telehealth technology in the home care environment by visiting nurses.

Materials and Methods: The study employed a qualitative research approach using semistructured interviews to hear the voices of the visiting nurses. The Diffusion of Innovation theory

V

(DOI) and the Knowledge, Attitudes and Behavior (KAB) model were used as lenses through which to design interview guide questions that could assess visiting nurse's knowledge, attitudes and beliefs regarding employing telehealth technology in the home care environment to assist the elderly dwelling patient with medication management strategies. One on one interviews were conducted via Teams platform for a max of 60 minutes. Participants were visiting nurses who were employed at home health agencies working with elderly dwelling adults, and who use telehealth technology to advance medication compliance strategies.

Results: 10 interviews were conducted at which time data saturation occurred. The PI coded all data manually and intercoder agreement was obtained. Several themes emerged from the data. This study provided evidence that visiting nurses accept telehealth technology, are supportive of its continued use, and are willing to be educated on future advances in this technology to assist the elderly home care patient with medication compliance strategies. Visiting nurses enjoy utilizing telehealth technology, state that they find it convenient and easy to use. Telehealth technology enables nurses to fill the visit void related to limited staff and financial restraints. *Conclusion:* Given the aging population of patients in the US requiring home health services the health care system must provide opportunities for nurses to continue to explore and adopt new technologies to advance medication compliance in the elderly population. Specifically, Universities and home health agencies must ensure that nurses are prepared to utilize telehealth technologies in order to promote the use of telehealth in the home care environment with the elderly patient to reduce medication non-compliance issues.

Keywords: telehealth, home health care, elderly, medication adherence

vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

APPROVAL FOR SUCCESSFUL DEFENSE iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv
ABSTRACTv
TABLE OF CONTENTS vi
LIST OF TABLES x
LIST OF FIGURES xi
I. INTRODUCTION 1
Statement of the Problem1
Significance of the Problem2
Synthesis and Critical Analysis 3
Purpose Statement
Conceptual Framework 5
II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE
The Role of the Visiting Nurse in Medication Compliance
Reasons for Medication Non-compliance
Elderly Perspectives on Taking Medications
Controversies in the Field of Research
The Need for Visiting Nurses and Telehealth for Medication Management in the Elderly Home Care Patient
Strategies that Assist the Elderly with Medication Compliance
Nursing Interventions that are Successful to Aid with Medication

Noncompliance
Telehealth Use by Nurses 34
Perceptions of the Elderly Using Telehealth
Nurses Experience with Telehealth Use
Gaps in the Literature
III: METHODOLOGY
Research Design: A Qualitative Approach 41
Sample
Inclusion Criteria
Exclusion Criteria
Interview Questions
Procedures
Measures Taken by the PI to Decrease Potential Bias 44
Data Analysis 45
Coding
IV: RESULTS
Research Question #1
Research Question #2
Research Question #3
Research Question #4
Research Question #5
V: DISCUSSION

VI: CONCLUSION	76
REFERENCES	77
APPENDICES	89
APPENDIX 1A: Institutional Review Board Approval	90
APPENDIX 1B: Informed Consent Form	91

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Demographics 48
Table 2: Results Research Question #1
Table 3: Categories/Themes for Research Question #1
Table 4: Results Research Question #2 55
Table 5: Categories/Themes Research Question #2 60
Table 6: Results Research Question #3 63
Table 7: Categories/Themes Research Question #3 65
Table 8: Results Research Question #4 66
Table 9: Categories/Themes Research Question #4 67
Table 10: Results Research Question #5 69
Table 11: Categories/Themes Research Question #5 71

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: KAB Model	17
Figure 2: Mnemonics Help Nurses Promote Medication Adherence	34
Figure 3: DOI Theory / KAB Model	39
Figure 4: Procedures	44

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Statement of the problem

Medication nonadherence is a persistent public health issue that can influence management of chronic conditions, especially among older adults (aged \geq 65), who are more likely to bear a greater disease burden than their younger counterparts, (Lee et al., 2018). Medication nonadherence is often cited as a factor that impacts hospital readmission rates for the elderly. Given the desire for the elderly to continue to live safely at home with quality of life, visiting nurse services have grown amongst the ever-growing elderly population. With the expected increase in 65 years and older adults from about 524 million in 2010 to about 1.5 billion in 2050, (World Health Organization, 2011), ensuring quality home care is imperative in the United States. About 3.4 million homebound patients receive skilled nursing, therapy, social work, and home health aide services from nearly 12,000 home health agencies each year (MEDPAC, 2019). One of the evolving roles of visiting nurses as they take on new responsibilities of providing nursing service in home settings is the use of information technology (IT), which includes the innovation referred to as telehealth.

Telehealth interventions are defined by the American Telemedicine Association as interventions that utilize tele-communications and information technologies to deliver health care services, (ATA, 2017). Often, telehealth nursing focuses on patients' long-term wellness, selfmanagement, and global health care issues, (Shortliffe & Cimino, 2014). The cost-effectiveness and patient acceptance of this new method of service delivery have been analyzed and found to

be effective (Taunton et al., 2004; Yun, 2008). The perceptions of nurses and their readiness to employ an innovation such as telehealth to manage older adults needs to live safely at home with a good quality of life and specifically adhere to medication management plans has not been previously studied.

Significance of the Problem

Not surprisingly, post-hospitalization is a high-risk period of non-adherence to medication for many elderly adults (Fallis et al., 2013). After patient discharge, medication administration is no longer supervised by healthcare staff and new medications are commonly introduced at discharge (Fallis et al., 2013). Nearly half of patients experience a medication error during self-medication and approximately 12%–17% of patients experience an adverse drug event after discharge (Cohen et al., 2012). These factors may contribute to medication nonadherence after discharge (Cohen et al., 2012; Fallis et al., 2013). Visiting nurses can educate the elderly on the most effective tailored strategies to maintain medication compliance in the home care environment and to prevent rehospitalization. Tailored instruction offered by the visiting nurse allows the personalization of the medication strategy, to fit an individual patient's needs. While no single strategy will guarantee that patients will fill their prescriptions and take their medications as prescribed, elevating adherence as a priority issue and promoting best practices, behaviors, and technologies may significantly improve adherence in the home care environment and ultimately promote safe and healthy living practices at home (National Council on Patient Information and Education, 2007).

Visiting nurses can educate the elderly on the most effective tailored strategies to maintain medication compliance in the home care environment and potentially prevent

rehospitalization. Tailored instruction offered by a visiting nurse allows the personalization of a medication strategy that fits an individual patient's needs.

Medicare guidelines allow the visiting nurse to visit a homebound patient that requires skilled nursing care. Examples of skilled nursing care include giving IV drugs, certain injections, or tube feedings; changing dressings; and teaching about prescription drugs or diabetes care. Medicare covers skilled nursing care when the services needed require the skills of a nurse, are reasonable and necessary for the treatment of the illness or injury and are given on a part-time or intermittent basis (visits only to draw blood are not covered by Medicare). "Part-time or intermittent" means you may be able to get skilled nursing services (combined) any number of days per week, as long as the services provided are fewer than 8 hours each day, 28 or fewer hours each week (or up to 35 hours a week in some limited situations. Administration of daily medications by mouth is not covered (Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 2019). Since nursing visits are limited, usually 3 per week, visiting nurses may utilize telehealth to fill the visit void and address medication noncompliance issues daily. Although telehealth is available to elderly patients in the home care environment and some research is emerging regarding patients' perceptions of it, visiting nurses' perspectives on the use of telehealth have not been addressed.

Synthesis and Critical Analysis

In the literature, several strategies have been described to promote and manage medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients and their caregivers including those using Telehealth (O'Quin et al., 2015). The use of "apps", which are software applications specifically designed for mobile devices like tablets or smartphones, is one such common approach explored (Schreier et al., 2013). Many apps have been designed to scan medication bar

codes using the smartphone camera, to ensure the right medication is taken at the right time (Schreier et al., 2013; Stegemann, 2016). Another approach is Near Field Communication (NFC) based technologies for monitoring adherence to medications instead of manually entering data or scanning bar codes. NFC tags can be used for monitoring adherence to medications (Kastner et al., 2010; Morak et al., 2012). By bringing such NFC tags in touch with a smartphone, patients can record the intake of their medications. Alternatively, special "blisters" can be used to monitor the intake of medications via NFC. Such smart blisters are covered with a foil that includes an electronic circuit (Morak et al., 2012; Brath et al., 2013). A microcontroller recognizes interruptions of the conductive paths when the tablets or capsules are taken out of the blister and will then record the time and date. Via an accompanying app and telehealth link, the data can be shared in real time with healthcare professionals and, where appropriate, other caregivers. However, to date, smart blisters do not record the actual intake of the tablet or capsule, thus the accuracy of the measurement is limited (Morak et al., 2012; Brath et al., 2012; Brath et al., 2012; Brath et al., 2013).

To address some of the limitations associated with the strategies that do not allow for visualization of pill consumption, several systems have been designed to monitor medication ingestion via swallowing the medication in front of a camera or tracking the patient oral motor movement by motion detection (Stegemann et al., 2012). With the emergence of these new innovations to address medication compliance, many home health agencies, and the staff that they employ, which include nurses, must be aware of these innovations. However, nurses in home healthcare may possess limited knowledge and or awareness of these innovative strategies.

While we know that nursing services can enhances a patient's quality of life in the home care environment, if nurses do not know of technological telehealth innovations or are not ready

to use them, how can they effectively employ them to manage patient needs? Thus, we argue that we must first address visiting nurses' readiness to use the innovation of telehealth.

Purpose Statement

Since home care nursing visits are limited, visiting nurses can utilize telehealth to fill the visit void and address medication noncompliance issues daily. However, nurses' knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs, regarding this innovation and their readiness to employ it may negatively impact their utilization of this strategy. Therefore, the purpose of this study is to understand what home health nurses' knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs are regarding employing Telehealth practices to promote medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients and their perceived readiness to do so.

RQ1 What strategies do home health nurses use currently to promote and manage medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients?

RQ2 Are home health nurses aware of Telehealth practices?

RQ3 Are home health nurses aware of Telehealth practices which can be used to promote and manage medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients?

RQ4 What are home health nurses' knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs regarding the use of telehealth technology as a strategy to manage and promote medication compliance?

RQ5 Do home health nurses feel ready to use Telehealth to promote and manage medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients and their caregivers?

Conceptual Framework

How nurses perceive telehealth practices employed by their organization to help patients with medication compliance, and their personal readiness to employ these practices, is important to understand, since nurses will be instrumental in introducing telehealth technology in home healthcare. In the literature it has been noted that readiness for change is generally the first step in any change project. Until participants are ready for change, little can be done to bring about the change (Amarneh, 2017). Rogers's five-step Diffusion of Innovation theory can be used as a lens to explain how nurses proceed from having knowledge of an innovation to confirming the decisions to adopt or reject the idea (Kritsonis, 2005; Wonglimpiyarat & Yuberk, 2005). Rogers's diffusion of innovation theory, which serves as a conceptual framework for the identification of conditions that advance innovation adoption and related methods of adoption, is appropriate to utilize to explore visiting nurses' perception related to telehealth use for medication compliance, (Schmidt et al., 2009; Emani et al., 2012).

Carl Rogers was an influential American psychologist best known for pioneering clientcentered therapy and humanistic psychology, which are perspectives developed in response to early theories such as psychoanalysis. The Diffusion of Innovation theory is often regarded as a valuable change model for guiding technological innovation where the innovation itself is modified and presented in ways that meet the needs across all levels of adopters. It also stresses the importance of communication and peer networking within the adoption process (Rogers et al., 1992).

Rogers's Diffusion of Innovation theory was first described in 1962, and characterizes people based on their likelihood to adopt technology and categorizes organizations based on their stage of adoption of a new technology. Rogers's five-step theory explains how individuals proceed from having knowledge of an innovation to confirming the decision to adopt or reject the idea (Kritsonis, 2005; Wonglimpiyarat & Yuberk, 2005). A distinguishing feature of

Rogers's theory is that even if a change agent is unsuccessful in achieving the desired change, that change could be resurrected at a later, more opportune time or in a more appropriate form (Kritsonis, 2005). The Five Stages of Rogers's Theory of Innovation are:

1. **Knowledge.** The individual is first exposed to an innovation but lacks information about the innovation.

2. **Persuasion.** The individual is interested in the innovation and actively seeks related information and details.

3. **Decision.** The individual considers change and weighs the advantages and disadvantages of implementing the innovation.

4. **Implementation.** The individual implements the innovation and adjusts the innovation to the situation. During this stage, the individual also determines the usefulness of the innovation and may search for further information about it.

Confirmation. The individual finalizes the decision to continue using the innovation.
 (Rogers, 1995).

Rogers also emphasizes the importance of including key people (i.e., policymakers) interested in making the innovation happen, capitalizing on group strengths, and managing factors that impede the process.

Rogers defined the adopter categories as "the classifications of members of a social system on the basis of innovativeness" (Rogers, 2003, p. 22). This classification includes innovators, early adopters, early majority, late majority, and laggards. In each adopter category, individuals are similar in terms of their innovativeness: "Innovativeness is the degree to which an

individual or other unit of adoption is relatively earlier in adopting new ideas than other members of a system" (Rogers, 2003, p. 22). Rogers's Five Categories of Innovators are:

1. Innovators

Innovators are adventuresome types that enjoy being on the cutting edge. The innovation's possible benefits make it exciting; the innovators imagine the possibilities and are eager to give it a try. The implementation and confirmation stages of the innovators' innovation decisions are of particular value to the subsequent decisions of potential adopters (Rogers, 1995, p. 263).

2. Early Adopters

Rogers stated adopters are those that are more likely to hold leadership roles in the social systems, and other members come to them to get advice or information about the innovation. Nurses that are looked at as role models in the agency and who are leaders will have an advantage encouraging their colleagues at every stage of the innovation process. Nurses with positive attitudes towards the induction of telehealth technology in the home care system through interpersonal networks will increase other colleagues' acceptance of this technology. Early adopters' leadership in adopting the innovation decreases uncertainty about the innovation in the diffusion process. Finally, "early adopters put their stamp of approval on a new idea by adopting it" (Rogers, 2003, p. 283). Early adopters are the nurses that are opinion leaders; they do not search widely like innovators, but they do speak with innovators and select the ideas they would like to try out (NursingAnswers.net, 2018).

3. Early Majority

Rogers claimed that although the early majority have a good interaction with other members of the social system, they do not have the leadership role that early adopters have (Rogers, 2003). However, their interpersonal networks are still important in the innovationdiffusion process. The nurse in the early majority category is not the first to accept telehealth technology use but is not the last to accept it. They usually take more time than it takes innovators and early adopters.

4. Late Majority

Rogers explains that people in the category of the late majority includes one-third of all members of the social system who wait until most of their peers adopt the innovation. Although they are skeptical about innovation and its outcomes, economic necessity and peer pressure may lead them to the adoption of the innovation. To reduce the uncertainty of the innovation, interpersonal networks of close peers should persuade the late majority to adopt it. Then, "the late majority feel that it is safe to adopt" (Rogers, 2003, p. 284).

5. Laggards

Rogers stated that laggards have the traditional view, and they are more skeptical about innovations and change agents than the late majority. This is the nurse who may lack the knowledge of telehealth use and may wait for her peers to accept it. This nurse will allow her colleagues to identify the advantages and disadvantages before they will utilize the technology themselves. Due to this hesitancy to use telehealth, laggards' innovation-decision period is relatively long (Rogers, 2003).

According to Rogers, diffusion of innovation at the individual level adoption occurs in five stages: 1) knowledge, 2) persuasion, 3) decision, 4) implementation, and 5) confirmation,

with five characteristics of innovation that influence an individual's decision to adopt or reject the innovation: i) relative advantage, ii) compatibility, iii) complexity, iv) trialability, and v) observability. Rogers suggests that these stages and characteristics be recognized when persuading users to adopt an innovation (Doyle et al., 2017). With home health agencies introducing telehealth as an instrument to assist the elderly population in the home care environment with medication compliance, understanding visiting nurses' knowledge of telehealth as an innovation, their perceptions surrounding its use, and their readiness to adopt or reject the idea will aid in preparing VNA nursing to advance perceptions regarding inception of telehealth practices.

A primary goal of healthcare professionals, regardless of the mode in which they deliver care of the populations they are working with, is to improve quality of life. Health care agencies delivering services to the elderly population at home must see to use all modes of delivery available to them including employing telehealth practices to reach this vulnerable population and help reduce their health care disparities. The visiting nurse, who is often the primary liaison from the healthcare agency to the patient in their home, must ensure that they utilize telehealth strategies that are designed and acceptable for the elderly homebound patient. For example, the elderly, who may have cognitive challenges and other disabilities, will require the skills of a nurse to incorporate tailored medication compliance strategies that deliver benefits, rather than add burdens while engaging with telehealth technologies. For the application of telehealth in homecare to become a valuable staple, visiting nurses must learn to accept, appreciate, and adapt to its use. The visiting nurses' knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs specifically regarding their

acceptance, appreciation and adaptive knowledge of telehealth practices must be explored to ensure success of telehealth introduction into the home health care setting.

Rogers's diffusion of innovation theory serves as a conceptual framework for the identification of conditions that advance innovation adoption and related methods of adoption and is appropriate to use when evaluating visiting nurses' knowledge, attitudes and beliefs related to telehealth use for medication compliance in the elderly population (Schmidt et al., 2009; Emani et al., 2012). Rogers's theory incorporates the processes of knowledge, persuasion, decision, implementation, and confirmation of an innovation. The use of this theory as a lens to evaluate visiting nurses' perspectives will add to advance evidence-based practice by identifying aspects to successfully incorporate telehealth technology into homecare agencies and contribute to enhancing the visiting nurses' acceptance of its use.

When assessing patients, the nurse employs expert qualities they have developed through education and experience. These qualities aid in the development of critical thinking skills to create effective medication compliance strategies that are tailored for individual patients' needs. The introduction of telehealth in the home care field to assist the elderly with medication compliance is a process in which the application of the above stages of Rogers's innovation theory as well as the nurse's education and experience can be utilized.

The nurse must assess the telehealth equipment and explore the rationale for its use. The visiting nurse uses a systemic approach to evaluate and analyze the needs of the patient, create tailored medication compliance strategies that meet the individual patient's needs, and incorporate these strategies into telehealth applications. Rogers's stage of knowledge entails a holistic approach that applies the nurse's expertise as well as investigation of the factors and

circumstances, such as history of medication noncompliance, that may have led to the physician's/agency's request to use telehealth as a resource. The visiting nurse than utilizes the stage of persuasion as he/she becomes interested in the use of telehealth technology to assist the patient and may actively research information via evidence-based practice to explore successful findings of its use. In the decision stage the nurse may consider the use of telehealth but will also explore the advantages and disadvantages of its use as related to his/her skills and that of the patient's. If the nurse is accepting and willing to utilize telehealth, implementation to the telehealth protocols will be introduced to assist the patient using tailored strategies to prevent medication noncompliance. The nurse may search for and adjust specific strategies to further assist the patient as needed. For example, the nurse may pre-fill a medication box for a patient who is forgetful and then utilize a phone app in which she will be able to see the patient take their daily medications from the pre-filled box. In the implementation stage the nurse implements telehealth use and will adjust and incorporate the specific tailored stages and add new ones if needed and remove strategies that may not be successful.

The nurse is constantly evaluating the usefulness of telehealth and examining their own knowledge, attitudes and beliefs concerning acceptance and satisfaction of its use. In the confirmation stage, the nurse determines whether he/she is satisfied with the use of telehealth and the aspects that it offers to decrease medication noncompliance issues. According to Rogers, if the innovation-decision has already been made, in the confirmation stage the nurse will than look for support of colleagues and/or the patient to support the acceptance of telehealth technology (Rogers, 2003).

As the nurse begins to utilize this accepted telehealth technology and encourage other colleagues to utilize it at the intra-level within the agency, the visiting nurse according to Rogers would be the change agent who will be encouraging and promoting its use in the home care environment.

A change agent is defined as an individual who influences the patients' innovationdecision in a direction deemed desirable by a change agency (Rogers, 1995). In order to be a change agent, the nurse must evaluate their knowledge, attitudes and beliefs on telehealth to examine whether they can be the change agent in the decision to utilize telehealth. As with all innovation of new technology, incorporation will depend upon individual characteristics and attributes of the nurse. Rogers described the innovation-diffusion process by identifying attributes of innovations that help to decrease uncertainty about the innovation (Rogers, 2003). Attributes of innovations include five characteristics of innovations: (1) relative advantage, (2) compatibility, (3) complexity, (4) trialability, and (5) observability. He stated that "individuals' perceptions of these characteristics predict the rate of adoption of innovations" (Rogers, 2003, p. 219). Also, Rogers noted that although there is a lot of diffusion research on the characteristics of the adopter categories, there is a lack of research on the effects of the perceived characteristics of innovations on the rate of adoption. Rogers defined the rate of adoption as "the relative speed with which an innovation is adopted by members of a social system" (Rogers, 2003, p. 221). For instance, the number of individuals who adopted the innovation for a period of time can be measured as the rate of adoption of the innovation. The perceived attributes of an innovation are significant predictors of the rate of adoption. Rogers

reported that 49-87% of the variance in the rate of adoption of innovations is explained by these five attributes.

6. Relative Advantage

Rogers defined relative advantage as "the degree to which an innovation is perceived as being better than the idea it supersedes" (Rogers, 2003, p. 229). If the visiting nurse employed by an agency believes that using telehealth will improve medication compliance strategies that are currently being used, he/she will be agreeable to utilizing this technology. For example, the nurse pre-fills a medication box for her/his patient daily but is unable to monitor if the patient is taking their medication. By incorporating telehealth technology, utilizing a telephone app, the nurse will be able to visualize the patient taking the medication. This would be of great advantage to both the nurse and the patient to meet the goals of medication compliance.

7. Compatibility

Rogers stated that "compatibility is the degree to which an innovation is perceived as consistent with the existing values, past experiences, and needs of potential adopters" (Rogers, 2003, p. 15). Hoerup describes that each innovation influences one's opinions, beliefs, values, and views about acceptance of technology (Hoerup, 2001). If an innovation is compatible with an individual's needs, then uncertainty will decrease and the rate of adoption of the innovation will increase. The nurse may have knowledge and experience working in the home care environment but may lack the instruction and skills needed to use telehealth technology which can influence her/his decision to accept its induction.

8. Complexity

Rogers defined complexity as "the degree to which an innovation is perceived as relatively difficult to understand and use" (Roger, 2003, p. 15). As Rogers stated, opposite to the other attributes, complexity is negatively correlated with the rate of adoption. Thus, excessive complexity of an innovation is an important obstacle in its adoption. As stated above, if the nurse is not familiar with telehealth technology, he/she will be reluctant to accept its use. If hardware and software are user-friendly, then the nurse might consider using it in the home care environment.

9. Trialability

According to Rogers, "trialability is the degree to which an innovation may be experimented with on a limited basis" (Rogers, 2003, p. 16). Also, trialability is positively correlated with the rate of adoption. As stated by Rogers, the more an innovation is tried, the faster its adoption. The visiting nurse, once introduced to this new technology, will find ways to make its application more useful and adapt it to meet the needs of the patient. For example, the tailored medication strategies created by the nurse for the patient will be adapted to the telehealth program. Over time these strategies may be modified or discontinued, and new strategies may be incorporated. Rogers suggests that increased reinvention may create faster adoption of the innovation.

10. Observability

Rogers defined observability as "the degree to which the results of an innovation are visible to others" (Rogers, 2003, p. 16). Role modeling (or peer observation) is the key motivational factor in the adoption and diffusion of technology (Parisot, 1997). As nurses in the home health agency begin to utilize telehealth technology, become familiar with its use, and see

its advantages of increasing medication compliance, they will encourage other colleagues to incorporate telehealth use into their own patients' plans of care. Since home care nursing will be utilizing telehealth technology to fill visit voids and address medication noncompliance issues in the elderly homecare population, nurses' knowledge, attitudes and beliefs regarding telehealth induction and their readiness to utilize its use must be explored. Rogers's diffusion of innovation theory will assist in identifying their knowledge, attitudes and beliefs which are important for acceptance of telehealth technology.

Application of Rogers's Diffusion of Innovation will be effective in exploring adaptation to new technology but, unless one assesses the cognitive constructs associated with the intervention, one is unable to offer a justifiable reason for this phenomenon. Further, attitudes are typically heightened immediately following an intervention but often dissipate over time, negatively influencing the future likelihood of performing a particular behavior. As a result, research suggests that interventions and their evaluation should involve all three domains. The growing body of KAB research suggests that this design has profound potential as well as profound utility in this area.

Although the KAB method is more complex than most, this complexity affords a more comprehensive understanding of the cognitive constructs associated with development and change. This is particularly true of complex learning environments, where traditional, simple evaluation strategies are often inadequate. While each specific KAB evaluation is distinct, research has shown the KAB method to be a reliable and valid method to evaluate change as a result of interventions (Schrader & Lawless, 2004). The Knowledge-Attitude-Behavior (KAB) model has been proposed as a way of explaining the role of knowledge. The KAB model

proposes that behavior changes gradually. As knowledge accumulates in a health behavior domain, changes in attitude are initiated. Over some period, changes in attitude accumulate, resulting in behavioral change (Baranowski et al., 2003).

Figure 1

KAB Model



© 2022 Diane Renee Logan

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

The Role of the Visiting Nurse in Medication Compliance

Visiting nurses have always been pioneers of new innovations since their role expanded in the 21st century, beginning with Lillian Wald's work in the Henry Street Settlement in 1893, and the founding by Mary Breckenridge of the Frontier Nursing Service in 1925. Visiting nurses, even at this early time, were functioning as autonoumous providers, providing care in the home to thousands of individuals in urban and rural cities throughout the United States (Keeling, 2015).

Medication compliance has always been an essential component of nursing care to prevent the further exacerbation of disease. Compliance with medical recommendations, especially with drug therapy, has been recognized to represent a complex challenge regardless of the care setting (Haynes, 1979). In the home care setting the use of long-term therapies and multiple comorbidities requiring multiple medications require visiting nurses to create and monitor tailored strategies to meet individual patients' needs.

Ensuring patient medication compliance presents a major challenge for home health nurses. However, with the emergence of telehealth technologies, opportunities exist for visiting nurses to improve medication compliance by enabling greater communication and supervision with their patients. Visiting nurses are aware that adherence to medication regimens in the elderly population, due to multiple comorbidities and polypharmacy, is an issue that must be addressed, especially from the perspective of the visiting nurse. Adherence to prescribed

medications is associated with improved clinical outcomes for chronic disease management and reduced mortality from chronic conditions, (Vrijens et al., 2012). Many elderly patients in the home care environment that are not compliant with their medication regimens return to the hospital within a 30-day period. Medication nonadherence among patients, particularly those with chronic diseases such as diabetes, has become an expensive problem for the American medical community, with a direct cost of approximately \$100 billion annually that may range as high as \$300 billion in potentially avoidable spending. Nonadherence in the United States is associated with 125,000 deaths annually and at least 10 percent of hospitalizations (Pittman, 2014).

The initial review of the medication regimen by the visiting nurse when admitting the elderly patient to the home health agency often finds discrepancies in medical orders/medical directions. Patients do not always recall all medications they were taking prior to hospital admission and thus do not report them accurately when hospitalized. When discharged from the hospital, individuals often resume taking their previous medications along with their new prescriptions. Furthermore, individuals are often found taking expired medications or old prescriptions that have been discontinued. Individuals take prescription medications that are duplicates, one in the generic name and one in the trade name, on the assumption that they are two different medications.

Many individuals do not view over-the-counter drugs as medications, and neglect to tell their health-care provider about them. Therefore, visiting nurses must be insightful detectives, asking probing questions that help the patient recall or identify over-the-counter medications (Logan, 2019). Visiting nurses must assess the patients cognitive and physical abilities to create

a tailored plan of care to meet their specific needs and ensure medication compliance even when the visiting nurse is not physically with the individual patient in their home. Traditionally, nurseled interventions to improve medication compliance among elderly adults in the home care environment have been a staple in the success of elderly medication compliance (Henk et al., 2017).

Successful practical compliance aids include organizers and reminders such as blister packs, calendars, dosage counters, special containers, dosage forms, controlled delivery, and microprocessors. Pharmacists and nurses are both in a strategic position to identify eligible patients for adherence interventions, to assess and promote adherence. Pharmacists specifically ensure treatment efficacy, security, and access and provide information on the medication and related lifestyle advice. Nurses clinically co-manage patients with physicians; they also provide patients with information on their disease (Celio et al., 2018). Therefore, it is important for healthcare professionals, especially visiting nurses, to follow up with older adults early and frequently to keep them adherent to therapy. Nurses are well placed to provide and coordinate adherence care because they are present in most healthcare settings, are in close physical proximity to patients, and act as interfaces between patients and physicians (Van Camp et al., 2013).

A systemic study (Henk et al., 2017) examined the effects of nurse-led and nursecollaborative interventions to improve medication adherence among discharged home-dwelling older adults. The complex nurse-led and nurse-collaborative interventions retained for the study tended to improve the medication adherence to long-term medication prescriptions among homedwelling older adults. The systemic study stated out of 1,546 records identified, 82 full-text papers were evaluated, and 14 studies were included, 11 RCTs and 2 CCTs. Overall, 2,028

patients were included (995 in intervention groups; 1,033 in usual-care groups). Interventions were nurse-led in seven studies and nurse-collaborative in seven more. In nine studies, adherence was higher in the intervention group than in the usual-care group, with the difference reaching statistical significance in eight studies.

Given the inconsistencies noted in the literature surrounding nurse-led interventions in home care, new strategies must be employed to increase elderly medication compliance rated in homecare. Telehealth practices may prove to be a strategy that can increase compliance rates, given it lacks the need for in-person implementation.

Surprisingly, as far back as 1925, telemedicine was emerging with the pioneering science fiction publisher Hugo Gernsback's vision of the "teledactyl," a device that, fifty years in the future, would allow a doctor to perform "diagnosis by radio." "Gernsback's then-futuristic invention represents the kind of innovative thinking needed in health care today to adapt to the growing population of elderly people and the looming shortage of providers" (Schwamm, 2014). As Gernsback envisioned this technology working, nurses must also envision a future with technology. Nurses must be the innovators and users of telehealth technology to assist the elderly population. Given that visiting nurses are not available to provide patient oversight daily in the person's home, visiting nurses have the opputunity to ultilize telehealth practices to incorporate tailor-made medication compliance strategies to assist the elderly as needed, which can offer more consistent oversight of the patients' management of their care.

Reasons for Medication Non-compliance

Many reasons for medication non-compliance have been stated in the literature. Sociological and psychological frameworks have afforded a greater understanding of non-

compliance associated with medicines, by suggesting that intentional non-compliance is not a deviant behavior that stems from ignorance or particular "character traits" or sociodemographic characteristics. Compliance is better conceptualized as a variable behavior, rather than a trait characteristic; most people are non-compliant some of the time (Donovan & Blake, 2002). Patients need to communicate with the visiting nurse to improve medication compliance.

Effective ways to reduce noncompliance include emphasizing personal choice and control; reassessing patients' readiness, beliefs about importance, or confidence; and sometimes backing off and joining with patients in their decisions. In effective behavioral consultation, providers encourage patients to express their concerns and use active listening techniques, such as open-ended questions, clarifications, reflective statements, and summary statements. Health care providers help their patients to be more active, brainstorm options, and consider the advantages and disadvantages of various therapeutic approaches. Collaborating and negotiating are integral to these encounters, though patients assume control over decision-making (Delamater, 2006).

The visiting nurse can further explore aspects of aging; individuals may have vision, hearing, and memory problems affecting how they take their medications (such as swallowing problems, precise identifying of the medications); and they may not be able to comply with therapy. In addition, with aging and reduced physical and mental abilities, they may need others to remind and prepare their medications for them. An individual's inability to receive, interpret, and perceive the primary information, health instructions, and services that are necessary to make a proper decision can affect non-compliance (Naghavi et al., 2019).

A low income and inability to pay health costs are another important factor. During the disease period, in addition to the main costs of treatment, other indirect costs of treatment such as transportation, residence and diet are imposed on the individual; due to these extra costs that the individual may not be able to pay, he/she, unfortunately, is forced to no longer follow the doctor's instructions (Naghavi et al., 2019). The visiting nurse must assess psychological factors, since psychosocial explanatory frameworks suggest that people often need to understand or evaluate their medicines before deciding whether to take them and may make cost- or risk-benefit choices about treatment options within their own belief and preference framework (Donovan & Blake, 2002).

Behavioral factors and motivation are other factors related to medication compliance since patients carry out a "cost-benefit" analysis of each treatment, weighing the costs and risks of each treatment against the benefits as they perceive them. The visiting nurse must be accepting of patient perceptions and the personal and social circumstances within which they live, which are crucial to their decision-making. Thus, an apparently irrational act of noncompliance (from the nurse's point of view) may be a very rational action when seen from the patient's point of view (Donovan & Blake, 2002).

Medication non-compliance in the elderly population is still more likely to occur due to the inability of the visiting nurse to visit the patients as often as she/he would like. Succesful use of telehealth technology can help the nurse to increase communication with the patient by using a telehealth device to communicate with the patient on a daily basis. Not only do these connections have a therapeutic benefit, but they are also essential to ensuring that visiting nurses

address patient needs and concerns in a way that prepares patients to successfully manage their own health (Oldenburg, 2020).

Elderly Perspectives on Taking Medications

Since elderly patients may appear to balance the benefits and disadvantages of their medications, it is important that the visiting nurse educates the elderly patient about their medications and how they are related to the disease process. The degree of information held by patients, regarding their disease and self-evaluation of the benefits of the medication, impact whether patients accept or reject their medications.

Decision-making on an ill-informed basis may be a factor leading to a reduction in adherence. Visiting nurses must be aware that adherence levels to medication regimens may be affected by potential difficulties in terms of experiencing and understanding the links between the medication and health outcomes. The elderly patient may perform their own "cost-benefit analysis" for medication use, weighing expense, perceived side effects and potential benefits (Rubin, 2007). In response to a questionnaire, researchers stated typical reasons for not taking their medications which included forgetfulness (30%), other priorities (16%), decision to omit doses (11%), lack of information (9%), and emotional factors (7%); 27% of the respondents did not provide a reason for poor adherence to a regimen. Four weeks after starting a new medication for a chronic illness, patients identified a substantial need for further information (Barber et al., 2004).

Literature has shown that the elderly population has had difficulties in the past with medication compliance. One study found that 28% of community based older adults did not keep their medication bottles closed so that they could open them, and 47% admitted that labels
on their medications were unclear and they could not read them due to poor eyesight, inability to read English, or small writing on the label (Bevil, 1981). Studies have demonstrated that from 31% to 64% of older adults living at home have difficulty opening medication containers, with childproof containers presenting the most difficulty (Nikolaus et al., 1996). This study is seminal. and demonstrates that the same problems are still occurring 40 years later, stressing the importance of the assistance of the visiting nurse to prevent medication errors.

Other studies have demonstrated that patient education and counseling by visiting nurses over several home visits or with follow-up phone calls produces increased medication adherence in recipients (Robbins et al., 2004). To improve medication compliance in the elderly population in the home care setting, visiting nurses through telehealth technology can counsel, educate, and visualize patients taking their medication and provide reassurance, enabling patients to be successful with maintaining medication compliance. In the study, nurses stated that using telehealth technology was like having a second set of eyes to monitor patients after hospital discharge to ensure that medications were taken correctly. Nurses also stated that they were able to fill visit voids due to financial restraints and the pandemic (COVID).

Controversies in the Field of Research:

The statistics are startling, but as many as half of 187 million patients in the U.S. do not take their medications as prescribed – meaning they do not follow the intensity of the drug regimen or continue to take their drugs through the duration of the prescription. There are a variety of potential reasons for this, including poor communications between healthcare providers and patients, fear of side effects, high medication costs, interaction with other prescriptions, and simple forgetfulness (National Council on Patient Information and Education,

2013). Research has shown that medication adherence improves clinical outcomes and reduces illness, disability, and death.

Despite such findings, many people do not realize the full potential benefits of their medications. In patients who fail to adhere to prescribed medication regimens, disease management is predominantly suboptimal or ineffective, particularly in long-term conditions such as hypertension (Krousel-Wood et al., 2005).

According to the National Council on Patient Information and Education, poor medication adherence has been discussed and debated for at least three decades, but these problems have generally been overlooked as a serious public health issue and, as a result, have received little direct, systemic, or sustained intervention (National Council on Patient Information and Education, 2013). Consequently, Americans have inadequate knowledge about the significance of medication adherence as a critical element of their improved health (NCPIE, 2007). The term compliance has come into disfavor because it suggests that a person is passively following a doctor's orders, rather than actively collaborating in the treatment process. The visiting nurse is at the forefront with the ability to address medication noncompliance immediately, since she has face-to-face contact with the patient and the ability to develop a reciprocal relationship. This relationship is active in nature since the patient is educated and the nurse uses tailor-made compliance strategies to engage the patient in promotion of their health. The nurse actively collaborates with the patient where the physician may only prescribe the medication with no education on its purpose or relationship to the disease process.

Behavior changes to enhance medication adherence require different strategies for different people. Trust, hope, fear, motivation, knowledge, literacy, skills, tools, rehearsal,

reinforcement, feedback, confidence, and competence are key concepts in the literature of medication compliance (Center for Health Transformation, 2010). The problem of nonadherence often defies isolated efforts and tactics, but studies have shown that multi-disciplinary approaches work well, multiple channels work better than single channels, and a longer time horizon is more realistic than a short one. Indeed, everyone is different, and everyone changes over time (Center for Health Transformation, 2010).

Improving adherence with medication regimens can make a difference. Adherence is a complex behavioral process strongly influenced by the environment in which people live, health care provider practice, and how health care systems deliver care. Adherence is also related to people's knowledge and beliefs about their illness, motivation to manage it, confidence in their ability to engage in illness-management behaviors, and expectations regarding the outcome of treatment and the consequence of poor adherence (World Health Organization, 2003). The reviewed findings from this research will enable the visiting nurse in the home care setting to establish evidence-based research strategies that will assist patients with compliance to medication regimens. With the advantages of telehealth technology, a tailored approach with specific medication compliance strategies can assist the elderly patient to reach their full potential of health.

Barello et al. performed a review of 11 studies "to detect, categorize and synthesize findings from the literature about the application of eHealth in engaging people in their own care process (Barello et al., 2016). Development of these interventions must go beyond simply communicating remotely with patients, but this review demonstrates that patient education and the development of self-care skills can be performed using telemedicine technologies and strategies.

The Need for Visiting Nurses and Telehealth for Medication Management in the Elderly Home Care Patient

The transition from hospital to home is a particularly vulnerable time for elderly patients, and nonadherence to prescribed medication regimen after discharge from the hospital increases the risk of post discharge complications. With nearly one-fifth of hospitalized Medicare fee-for-service patients readmitted within 30 days, a heightened focus has been placed on improving the quality of the transition process to reduce costs and improve patient care (Unruh et al., 2017).

Previous studies have demonstrated significant medication-related problems at the time of discharge, including mediation discrepancies that doubled readmission rates (Coleman et al., 2005), as well as a lack of patient understanding, where 50% of patients were unable to state the name and purpose of their medications at the time of discharge (Makaryus & Friedman, 2005). One study found that over 50% of medication-related admissions were preventable, while another determined that these preventable admissions resulted in significantly longer hospital stays (Dormann et al., 2004). Forster et al. (2003) reported that one in five hospitalizations is complicated by post discharge adverse events, and 66% of these events are related to medications. Research has shown that nearly one third of home health patients may be receiving medications that can cause them to become more confused, increase their risk of falls, and result in more frequent hospitalization (Frey & Rahman, 2003). Home health care patients do not receive regular visits from nurses and therapists, and thus the opportunity exists for increased vigilance over medication use, improved screening for potential problems, and better communication with prescribers to coordinate the medical regimen and avoid harmful drug interactions (Frey & Rahman, 2003).

Additionally, 33–69% of medication-related hospital admissions in the United States are due to medication nonadherence with a resultant cost of approximately \$100 billion per year (Osterberg & Blaschke, 2003). Hospitalization among older adults receiving skilled home health services continues to be prevalent. Nationally, 27% of Medicare-reimbursed home health recipients are hospitalized at some point while receiving home health services (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Home Health Compare, 2012).

Visiting nurses are essential in preventing hospital readmission due to medication noncompliance. Education is a large part of medication adherence. Taking the time to explain and ensure patients understand why they are using their medication is important and improves the likelihood that they will be compliant. Visiting nurses and/or providers who utilize telemedicine and technology can guide their patients by having them engage in behaviors that increase the usage of their medications. Providers and patients can leverage technology to ensure patients are taking their medication using tracking programs and providing reports back to their healthcare provider on their usage as well as their lab results (ex: blood pressure/blood sugar), and symptoms that they experienced (Alvarez, 2020).

Visiting nurses provide a valuable service to their patients by helping them stay healthier, reducing costs, and helping them avoid hospitals and long-term care facilities (Barrett et al., 2010; Mamolen et al., 2000). Approaches that do not consider the input of these critical, yet underappreciated healthcare providers run the risk of missing valuable opportunities to reduce adverse events and improve care received at home. The experience and expertise of home care nurses have the potential to guide substantial improvements in patient safety and care at a relatively low cost. Ignoring them is not just foolish, but dangerous (Romagnoli et al., 2013).

The introduction of telehealth in the home care environment, and the expertise of the visiting nurse in constructing tailored medication compliance strategies, can prevent unnecessary rehospitalization.

Strategies That Assist the Elderly with Medication Compliance

As a visiting nurse in the home health field, many problems upon initial assessment can be found due to medications prescribed from several different physicians and prescriptions filled at multiple pharmacies, a problem called polypharmacy (Logan, 2019). Since prescriptions may be filled at several pharmacies, medication reviews conducted by the pharmacist are not possible. The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) recommends medication reconciliation, defined as the "comparison of the patient's current medication regimen against the physician's admission, transfer, and/or discharge orders to identify discrepancies," as a beginning to improving medication safety (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2019).

However, this is where visiting nurses take over to prevent rehospitalization of patients, by reconciling these medications and using telehealth technology to make this transition process safer. As a visiting nurse for a home health agency, the opportunity to do a review on prescriptions in the home is a key starting point to patient safety. Since service is often covered by Medicare benefits following a return home from the hospital setting, this systemic medication review is beneficial.

The OASIS (The Outcome and Assessment Information Set) is a statutory requirement for in home medication review required by home health agencies. The OASIS tool enables a basis for prevention from adverse medication effects as well as adherence to the appropriate medication regimen. The OASIS tool can identify potential weakness, both physical and

cognitive, that may interfere with the ability to comply with a medication regimen. OASIS is a comprehensive assessment designed to collect information on nearly 100 items related to a home care recipient's demographic information, clinical status, functional status, and service needs (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services-CMS, 2009).

Though healthcare practitioners cannot supervise or accompany patients through each day of the medication adherence process, healthcare practitioners can play a unique and important role providing patients a good start at implementing behavior changes. Solutions should not only help design scientifically based, proven intervention strategies, but also reduce the time and cost involved with implementing these strategies in various healthcare settings (Atreja et al., 2005).

Nursing Interventions that are Successful to Aid with Medication Non-compliance:

Frontloading of skilled nursing visits is one way home health agencies have attempted to reduce the need for readmission among this chronically ill population. Frontloading has been defined as providing 60% of the planned skilled nursing visits within the first 2 weeks of the home health episode (CMS, 2009). Frontloading of skilled nursing visits is thought to allow clinicians to identify issues early on and to intervene before a readmission is needed. Results on the benefits of frontloading are particularly beneficial for those with heart failure, decreasing readmission rates from 39.4% to 16% (Rogers et al., 2007). These findings suggest that it may be critically important to provide intense and targeted home health services to Medicare-reimbursed beneficiaries within the first 14 days of skilled home health. (O'Connor et al., 2014). The visiting nurse can prefill a medication box to help patients adhere to their medication

regimens. The nurse can observe on each visit if the medication box is emptied in the scheduled dose compartment to see if the patient has been compliant.

The complex nature of the medication compliance issue suggests that there are not likely to be any quick or simple remedies for this non-compliance problem. Making clear the link between the treatment and the illness could enhance the likelihood of a better compliance. Describing the effects of treatment could, on the other hand, significantly affect patients negatively. Better patient education, aimed at improving patients' understanding of their treatment and their doctor's instructions is suggested as compliance enhancing (Donovan, 2002).

Education is provided on medication adherence and the patient is instructed on their current medications and the potential side effects that these medications may cause. When health professionals view patient education as a process rather than a single intervention, health professionals may fear that the process will become too time-consuming. However, the process of patient education, if incorporated into daily interactions of each patient encounter, can save time by increasing patient compliance. Fewer calls or visits to the physician or pharmacist, as well as other benefits of compliance such as avoiding hospitalizations, may result if proper educational techniques are employed early in therapy (Meichenbaum & Turk, 2002).

Visiting nurses in the home care environment have the time and the opportunity to incorporate strategies that can apply to the individual patients' care needs, whether these strategies are written materials, visual aids, electronic aids, or simple verbal reminders. Green et al. conducted a quantitative review of 10 experimental studies specifically addressing educational and behavioral interventions designed to improve medication compliance (Green et al., 1984). All methods, written materials, visual aids, electronic aids, or simple verbal

reminders, with the exception of written materials used alone, were effective in significantly and substantially improving knowledge of medication use and decreasing the incidence of error.

Often the nurse in the home care setting uses pictures to indicate what each medication is used for. Research in psychology and marketing indicates that humans have a cognitive preference for picture-based, rather than text-based, information (Kripalani et al., 2004). Studies have shown that pictorial aids improve recall, comprehension, and adherence and are particularly useful for conveying timing of doses, instructions on when to take a medicine, and the importance of completing a course of therapy (Katz et al., 2006).

It is essential for health care workers including prescribers, dispensers, and nurses, to take part effectively in counseling the patients in their area. Patient education has been deemed effective in promoting the success of the healthcare system. Health professionals and nurses administer patient education in different ways. For instance, patient education is delivered through a cognitive learning process, affective process, and psychomotor learning approach. Patient education is documented to provide evidence of the process of patient compliance (Cerio, 2017).

Education can have a significant impact on adherence with medication and can help to optimize adherence when used concurrently with the provision of written instruction and telehealth use. In this regard nurses have been found to be influential in providing patientcentered medication education especially post discharge from hospital (Wolfe & Schirm, 1992). As a healthcare educator, I have created a mnemonic to assist visiting nurses when creating tailor-made strategies for medication compliance in the elderly population. By following this

mnemonic and creating strategies that address the important topics, it enables the nurse to

enhance medication compliance in the elderly population.

Figure 2

Mnemonics Help Nurses Promote Medication Adherence.

MENTOR the patient, providing guidance and reassurance about medication concerns and questions.
EDUCATE on medication trade/generic names, route, scheduled dose, and side effects.
DIRECT questions should be asked concerning medication understanding and adherence.
IDENTIFY each medication and educate patient on its purpose related to the disease process.
CONSULT physicians and pharmacists as needed.
ACCEPT patient's beliefs and leave biases behind.
TAILOR a customized medication compliance plan.
INSTRUCT patient to not share medications with others and to maintain daily compliance.
O BTAINABLE goals should be created.
NOTIFY nurse case manager if any medications are added or discontinued.
STRATEGIES should be customized to fit patient's individual needs.

©2018 Diane Renee Logan

Telehealth Use by Nurses

With telehealth, visiting nurses can enhance how the mnemonic MEDICATIONS is used in the home. In one study (Hayakawa et al., 2013), a smartphone-based medication selfmanagement system with a real-time alert feature, showed improved medication adherence among the participants. The system studied had two major features. First, patients' medication history in an accurate, accessible format was stored and maintained. Second, the system provided an electronic reminder when medications were missed. Data input included prescription data that are read using barcodes with a smartphone camera, together with photographic images of the medication. The system also provided real-time medication monitoring with wireless pillboxes. Using a smartphone system was found to be acceptable to patients and supported medication self-management (Hayakawa et al., 2013). Marek et al. evaluated health status outcomes of frail older adults receiving a home-based support program that emphasized self-management of medications using both care coordination and technology. Results identified home-based nurse care coordination along with the med planner device as effective in supporting participants to better clinical health status outcomes (Marek et al., 2013).

Adherence-aiding strategies have been shown to be better when combined. Utilizing the mnemonic above and incorporating (MEDICATIONS) strategies could include involvement of the patient in the negotiation of treatment goals, reduction of the complexity of the treatment regimen, tailoring the treatment to the patient's lifestyle, use of reminders, encouragement of family support, informing patients about side-effects, monitoring of adherence, and provision of feedback to the patient (Logan, 2019).

Visiting nurses play a pivotal role in the medication management process for these older adults. Considering the expense of prescription drugs in the current health-care system, a small investment in comprehensive assessment and interventions to promote accurate and safe management of medications will provide cost-effective care and improve the quality of life for older adults struggling to manage their often-complex medication regimens (Marek & Antle, 2008). The assistance of telehealth technology will only help to increase medication compliance when incorporating the above successful mnemonic strategies.

Perceptions of the Elderly Using Telehealth

Before visiting nurses apply telehealth technology to incorporate medication compliance strategies, examination of elderly patients' satisfaction with technology-enhanced interventions must be evaluated. A multitude of issues need to be examined including issues concerning the actual operation of devices (ease of use, adjustability to changing needs); perceived impact on lifestyle; impact on medication burden; sense of control and confidence in the system; perceived

impact on cost; and quality of care (Kaufman et al., 2013; Reeder et al., 2011). Reeder et al. examined ninety-six frail older adult participants who used medication dispensing devices for 12 months (Reeder et al., 2011). The ninety-six participants completed a satisfaction survey related to perceived usefulness and reliability. These results were analyzed and grouped by themes in the following areas: Ease of use, Reliability, Medication Management Assistance, Routine Task Performance, and Acceptability.

Nearly all participants perceived the medication dispensing device as very easy to use, very reliable, and helpful in the management of their medications. Eighty-four percent of participants expressed a desire to use the machine in the future. Elderly patients attributed their medication adherence and feeling of being in control over their medication regimen to their nurses' interest, friendliness, willingness to provide quality information, and ability to act as counselors (Henriques et al., 2012). The technology-enhanced medication management device in this study was an acceptable tool for older adults to manage medication in collaboration with home care nurses.

Nurses' Experience with Telehealth Use

A systemic review (Koivunen et al., 2018) synthesized the best available research evidence on nursing professionals' experiences of the facilitators and barriers to the use of online telehealth services in nursing practice. All studies were qualitative, and the methodologies used were well suited to the aims of the reviewed studies settings, home care and outpatient clinics representing, for instance, diabetes or oncology care or rehabilitation. The telehealth applications used in the studies applied videoconferencing/videophone for online connections (n = 9). In twelve studies, a special ICT application or package was used to connect to patients or clients.

Email (n = 1) and mobile phone (n = 3) use remained slight. In 15 studies, the key conclusions described mostly positive experiences of online telehealth use. The variety of applications in use causes new learning needs and it seems that the allocation of resources for the implementation is a constant problem. Despite the everyday use of ICT in personal life, nurses' attitudes towards telehealth use in nursing remains somewhat negative. Further discussion is needed among professionals on how this change will be accepted and implemented in practice.

Evaluation of visiting nurses' knowledge, values, and beliefs will add to the current evidence-based practice. Patients rely on visiting nurses to provide interaction and support when confronting medication compliance issues. Henry et al. conducted a systematic literature review to identify interpersonal health care provider (HCP) behaviors and attributes related to provider–patient interaction during care in telehealth delivery (Henry et al., 2017). Of 5,261 unique article abstracts initially identified, 338 full-text articles remained after exclusion criteria were applied and these were reviewed for eligibility.

Finally, data were extracted from 45 articles. Through qualitative synthesis of the 45 articles, it was noted that papers encompassed many disciplines and targeted care to people in many settings including home care, primary and specialist care, mental health/counseling, and multi-site teams. Interpersonal behaviors were observed identifying six themes, health care provider-based support for telehealth delivery; provider–patient interactions during the telehealth event; environmental attributes; and guidelines for education interventions or evaluation of HCP behaviors. Although unable to identify current best practices, important considerations for practice and education did emerge. These include perceptions of the utility of telehealth, differences in communication patterns such as pace and type of discourse, reliance on visual cues

by both provider and patient especially in communicating empathy and building rapport; and confidentiality and privacy in telehealth care delivery (Henry et al., 2017). This study further identifies the need to examine visiting nurses' perspectives regarding the introduction of telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies in the elderly population.

Gaps in the Literature

Presently, in the literature, there is no evidence to support that any strategy used to address medication compliance is better than another. When collaboration with health professionals is good and patients' treatment and care are planned together to match their normal life, patients have good adherence (Kääriäinen et al., 2013). Healthcare professionals should feel accountable for optimizing medication management among home-dwelling older adults, particularly during their transitions home from acute care settings. Implementing effective primary care management should be a priority among home dwelling older adults with multiple chronic conditions to prevent adverse health outcomes and to promote autonomy in their daily lives (Pereira et al., 2019). Additionally, findings support that when patients see overall improvement in their health, they are more likely to remain committed to taking their medication as prescribed by the provider (Vermeire et al., 2001).

The visiting nurse can incorporate a menu of compliance-enhancing strategies that are tailored to meet the elderly patient's individual needs. Therefore, we argue that if the visiting nurse creates individualized medication compliance strategies which incorporate telehealth technology to aid in consistent monitoring, compliance would be positively impacted and likely lead to cost savings for the home health agency (Alvarez, 2020).

To date, few studies have explored the knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs of visiting nurses using telehealth technology to improve medication compliance in the elderly home care population. Therefore, it is important to evaluate their knowledge, attitudes and beliefs, since they are the ones who are creating tailored medication compliance strategies for this patient population. To advance the use of telehealth technology for medication compliance, the voice of visiting nurses must be heard. Rogers's Diffusion of Innovation theory and the Knowledge-Attitude-Behavior (KAB) model will be appropriate tools to hear the voices of visiting nurses. **Figure 3**







©2022 Diane Renee Logan

Koivunen et al. (2018) conducted a study with the aim to synthesize the best available research evidence on nursing professionals' experiences of the facilitators and barriers to the use

of online telehealth services in nursing practice. Telehealth is used to deliver healthcare services and health-related information by means of information and communication technology (ICT). The systematic review of qualitative studies was conducted using thematic synthesis of previous studies. International electronic databases PubMed, CINAHL, Eric, Web of Science/Web of Knowledge and Scopus, and Finnish databases Medic and Ohtanen, were searched in spring 2013. In addition, the search was completed in fall 2015.

Following critical appraisal, 25 studies from 1998 to fall 2015 were reviewed and the findings were synthesized. Both facilitators and barriers were grouped into five main categories which were related to nurses' skills and attitudes, nurses' work and operations, organizational factors, and patients and technology. The highest number of facilitators and barriers was found in the category focusing on nurses' work and operations. Based on the findings, nurses' skills and attitudes are preventing factors in the implementation of telehealth. There is also a need to focus on patients' role in telehealth usage, although the findings support positive adoption of ICT tools among patients.

The findings called for further development of technological tools used in nursing practice and healthcare services. They used a critical skills appraisal program. The change from traditional face-to-face nursing to the use of telehealth calls for local agreements and further discussions among professionals on how this change will be accepted and implemented into practice. In addition, organizations need to make sure that nurses have enough resources and support for telehealth use.

Chapter III

METHODOLOGY

Research Design: A Qualitative Approach

A qualitative approach was used to collect data through individual semi-structured interviews, allowing for the voices of the visiting nurses who are employed at home health agencies that work with the elderly dwelling adult, and who use telehealth technology to advance medication compliance strategies, to be heard. The semi-structured interview gives participants ample time and scope to express their diverse views and allows the researcher to react to and follow up on emerging ideas and unfolding events (Nohl, 2009).

Sample

Criterion sampling, one of the purposeful sampling methods, was utilized to choose the group of nurses in the study. The criteria for obtaining the nurses included in the study required them to be licensed registered nurses employed by a home health agency that worked with the elderly population and utilized telehealth technology to incorporate medication compliance strategies to assist the elderly with medication noncompliance. A sample size of 15-30 visiting nurses was obtained, meeting saturation threshold (Nohl, 2009). Semi-structured interviews via teams were conducted, audiotaped, and transcribed verbatim by the primary researcher. Questions were concerning effective medication compliance strategies that theses nurses had created for their patients while using telehealth applications, and their perspectives on the use of this technology to increase medication compliance in the elderly home care patient.

Inclusion Criteria

• Licensed Professional Nurse (RN)

- RN must be employed at Home Health Agency
- RN must work with the elderly population
- Experience creating tailored medication compliance strategies for the elderly patient
- Agency must utilize telehealth technology
- 1yr or more experience in the home health field
- May be either a male or female
- Must be 18yrs or older

Exclusion Criteria:

- Not a professional nurse (RN)
- Not employed at a home health agency
- Does not work with the elderly population
- Does not have experience creating tailored medication compliance strategies for the elderly.
- Does not have 1yr or more experience working in the home health field
- Under the age of 18yrs

Interview Questions

Interview questions were created by the PI, who is a registered nurse that has worked for 24 years in the home health field assisting the elderly population with medication compliance. To establish content and face validity of the demographic and open-ended questions, an expert panel of three health-care educators, two with PHDs and one with a DNP with experience using research methods, reviewed the interview guide questions for clarity, organization and content correctness reaching 80% consensus, after two rounds of review.

Procedures

The PI contacted Health Recovery Solutions and organized a telehealth meeting with the executive of the company and the director of nursing to explain the study and ask permission to interview nurses who met the criteria. The PI received a formal letter of support from the agency that was then included in the IRB application and submitted to the IRB at Seton Hall University. Once the study was approved by Seton Hall University IRB, Health Recovery Solutions distributed the letter of solicitation to all visiting nurses working at home health agencies in the United States that utilize Health Recovery Solutions telehealth technology. Willing potential participants contacted the PI via Seton Hall e-mail. Potential participants who completed the email pre-screening tool and were identified as meeting the inclusion criteria, were invited to partake in the interview process by the PI via email. Participants meeting inclusion criteria were scheduled for one-on-one semi-structured interviews that were conducted via Microsoft Teams by the primary PI. The interviews were audiotaped, and automatic transcription function was used. Overall, the interview was approximately $45\min - 60$ minutes in length. During the interview, the researcher also took notes (journal notes) which were later used to ensure transcription accuracy. Participants were reminded that breaks were allowed if they felt the need to do so. They also were informed that to protect their identity, they needed to provide a pseudonym and that they could withdraw from the study at any point.

Interview questions were clear, concise, and applicable to the field of home health care. Interview questions were open-ended. Open-ended questions allowed the participants to freely voice their experiences and minimize the influence of the researcher's attitudes and previous findings (Creswell, 2009). The first part of the interview contained demographic questions and

the second part contained questions related to the nurse's knowledge, attitudes and beliefs pertaining to telehealth use while incorporating medication compliance strategies.

Figure 4

Procedures





The following measures were taken by the PI to decrease potential bias:

- Researcher ensured that questions were worded differently and that the questions were engaging throughout the interview.
- b) Neutrality was maintained to not influence the participants' responses. No details were given about the company's or researchers' role or the goal of the study.
- c) Researcher considered all the data obtained and analyzed it with a clear and unbiased mind.

- Researcher continuously re-evaluated the impressions and responses and ensured that preexisting assumptions were kept at bay.
- e) Researcher considered potential bias and ordered the questions suitably.
- f) General questions were asked first, before moving to specific or sensitive questions.
- g) Questions were kept simple to avoid words that could have introduced bias.
- h) No leading questions were asked that could have prompted the participant to respond in favor of a particular assumption.
- i) Open-ended questions were created to prevent participants from simply agreeing or disagreeing or guiding him or her to provide a truthful and honest answer.
- j) When the answers did not sound true the questions were asked in a different manner
- k) Direct questions were used that allowed the participants to select from a range of potential choices rather than a 'Yes' or 'No' choice.
- Questions were asked in a manner that allowed the participant to feel accepted no matter what the answer was.
- m) Questions were introduced such as asking what a third party would do in a particular situation. This helped the participant to project his or her own feelings onto others and provide accurate, truthful, and more representative answers.

Data Analysis

Before the data was analyzed, the researcher transcribed all interviews and journal notes. The process of transcribing allowed the researcher to become acquainted with the data (Reissman, 1993). The researcher created Microsoft Word files for the interviews and journal notes. The researcher created a password saved in the researcher's computer for which only she has access. The researcher transcribed verbatim by hand the interview and categorized and identified themes by color coding. To ensure accuracy, all transcripts were reviewed by PI and the committee chair. All information shared by participants was not linked to their identity or used to identify their identity. Participants' identities remained anonymous by assigning code names and ensuring that publication or presentations from this study did not and would not mention these code names. Participants' participation in this study resulted in no risks to them personally or to the agency in which they were employed. Participation was voluntary, and participants were able to leave the study and discontinue participation at any time. Participants were also able to decline to answer any question during the interview. The study entailed a Qualitative approach; therefore, no statistical analysis was conducted.

For ease of note taking, getting all the participants input, and not slowing down the interview process, the audio recording function via Microsoft Teams was used. The recording was made and kept confidential and placed in a safe place. The investigator transcribing the interview was the only individual who had access to the Teams recording. The recording and journal notes were kept in a secure location and were destroyed when the study was completed. Data transcriptions were read and re-read, and participants names were not located anywhere on the transcriptions, only their code which identified the transcription; they were listed as P1, P2, P3, etc.

During the qualitative analysis, the PI manually decoded and encoded the responses from the interview questions using paper & pencil on hard copies to place them into categories and ultimately thematic analysis.

Coding. The data was coded manually immediately following each interview. The PI assigned emergent codes using both in vivo for unique words/language of subjects and descriptive coding to summarize a topic of a passage. Both codes worked together to bring out

the meaning and essence of the data (Creswell, 2013; Saldana, 2016). Coding involved a 2-part process: decoding to determine the core meaning of the passage and encoding that determined which code to use and label the passage. Categories and themes helped to develop the "voice" of the visiting nurses who participated in the study. Significant statements, sentences or quotes that provided an understanding of the participants' caregiving experience were highlighted and grouped into meaning units (Charmaz, 2006; Creswell, 2013; Saldana, 2013; Saldana & Omasta, 2018; Miles et al., 2014). Saturation was achieved when no new codes or themes emerged in participants' voices.

The PI's process of coding employed first, and second cycle coding practices described by Saldana (Saldana, 2016). In the first cycle coding, the PI used first order coding which is the initial coding and includes analytical memos taken. The second order coding used in vivo coding, which was obtained from direct quotes from the participants and or descriptive codes, which were phrases based upon participant statements. Intercoder agreement served as an external check during the coding process to help come to a full consensus on the themes generated. The PI established a codebook along with the transcripts that were externally checked by the committee chair. The PI and the committee chair reached consensus on the codes, categories and thematic analysis generated. Codes, categories, and thematic analysis in which the PI and committee chair did not reach consensus were collected, reviewed, and discussed and after this collaborative process, those codes in which consensus was not achieved, did not move forward in the data analysis. The PI then compared and contrasted the study's synthesized data and discussed it considering the current available literature on the topic.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

The qualitative study results are organized by research questions. Prior to reporting the results corresponding to the research questions, an overview of participant characteristics or prescreening information and demographic information is provided in the form. The first table represents the inclusion and exclusion requirements and the participant prescreening tool.

Table 1

Demographics

Participants	Age	Gender	Race/Ethnicity	Years Experience	Degree
P1	37YRS	Female	African	10YRS	BSN
			American		
P2	45YRS	Female	African	22YRS	Associate
			American		
P3	69YRS	Female	Caucasian	38YRS	BSN
P4	43YRS	Female	Caucasian	22YRS	BSN
P5	41YRS	Female	Caucasian	19YRS	BSN
P6	37YRS	Female	Caucasian	16YRS	BSN
P7	58YRS	Female	Caucasian	38YRS	MSN
P8	37YRS	Female	Caucasian	15YRS	MSN/NP
P9	39YRS	Female	Caucasian	18YRS	BSN
P10	70YRS	Female	Caucasian	42YRS	BSN

© 2022 Diane Renee Logan

The mean age of the participants was 47.6; 100% were female, 80% Caucasian, 20% African American. When asked about years of experience, the mean was 24. Level of education varied with 70% BSN's, 20% MSN, and 1% holding an associate degree.

The results of the Qualitative study research questions and interview guide questions are listed below. Each participant was interviewed based on interview questions that were created from research question. After completion of each interview all questions were reviewed, codes were identified, codes were merged into categories, that then formed the basis for the identified themes. The right side of each table identifies the codes/categories, and the left side of each table shows the thematic analysis.

To address Research Question 1: What are home health nurses' experiences with telehealth practices to promote and manage medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients? The following interview guide questions were explored: IGQ1. Describe your experiences using telehealth practices to promote medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients? IGQ2. Can you provide an example of how you have used telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies for your patients? IGQ3. Do you find using telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies useful (yes, no, maybe)? Can you please explain your response?

Table 2 provides each participant in vivo or descriptive codes identified from their response to each interview guide question that was associated to research question 1.

Table 2

Results Research Question #1

		-
IGQ1 Describe your experiences using telehealth practices to promote medication compliance of community- dwelling elderly patients?	IGQ2 Can you provide an example of how you have used telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies for your patients?	IGQ3 Do you find using telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies useful (yes, no, maybe)? Can you please explain your response?
P1 Cardiac patients	"I call the patient, using Bluetooth, to review medications." - Check vitals - Review medication bottle	Yes, "It allows monitoring vital signs via telehealth, changes can be made if needed since findings are discussed with me."
P2 Transplant patients	"I use a collaborative zoom meeting with patient."	Yes, "I monitor correct times medication taken; it assists patients with scheduling appointments and making referrals."
P3 Cardiac patients	"Preparing medications in a box every two weeks." "I check via telehealth to see if patients took meds." "I create reminders like written signs, color coding pill bottles, timers, alarms, and telehealth, med pre-pour boxes where the alarm will go off on to the box and it helps them to remember that at three o'clock, they have to take their Lasix."	Yes, "It allows correspondence/joint venture with pharmacy, medication administration can be monitored."
P4 Elderly	"I like making visits via Zoom and Facetime to observe taking of medication, making it, you know, filling it out their plan or so that they just have to open the top and take them explaining to them the risks and the benefits of not taking. There was some duplicate stuff. I suspected that their Lasix dose was wrong. And so, I was able to get on telehealth quickly, actually, and get it all situated."	Yes, "It addresses issues sooner to avoid problems."

IGQ1 Describe your experiences using telehealth practices to promote medication compliance of community- dwelling elderly patients?	IGQ2 Can you provide an example of how you have used telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies for your patients	IGQ3 Do you find using telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies useful (yes, no, maybe)? Can you please explain your response?
P5 Elderly	"Speaking via telehealth about medication compliance, going over written medication sheets, medication sheets and reminder card, check off lists, plans customized to patient needs, making sure they know both trade name and generic names, and of course, making things easy for them to maintain compliance."	Yes, "provides medication reconciliation."
P6 COVID	"You double check with the family. We have a medication sheet, and we will go over all the medications with them and they gave him the right Med and all that. Any questions?" "We had the charts and, we would be able to review and double check the orders for them."	Yes, "We like it; it worked out well." "Well, it made it easy, especially during COVID that we can do all this. Because of the weather, the snow we up, I live upstate and it's getting a lot of snow here in that. So, with the ice, it was quite effective that way and it was easy for the family, the nurse and the patient to use."
P7 Admissions, cardiac patients	"So, I try to have like a system where you know either we do like a grid or even the pill bottles we will put like a marker, like it might be like a day 1 is red and a night is blue." "I can call my patients and observe them taking their meds".	Yes, "Telehealth is like a second set of eyes eyeballing the patient every day.
P8 Elderly	"Well, with telehealth, once we, you know, speak to patients, we go through the medication list you know individually and go through all side effects of the medications and explain what medications are being prescribed for."	Yes, "I feel like it works, and it works similar like a visit, as if they were in the office. I mean, it's just as you know, with technology and being able to teach, you know, patients compliant."
P9 Elderly	"Sometimes having a second nurse involved in the telehealth reinforces for patients, the importance of certain medications." "Well, my initial review with them is one thing, using telehealth we can go over it again, the second time, that reinforcement helps them to be more compliant."	Yes. "I mean, sometimes if the patient is willing to cooperate. Umm, it helps people to h have more than one review."

P10 Elderly	"Well, I mean you use telehealth, you know, during certain times. I mean if it's bad weather, you can't get there, you can use telehealth." "So, when you go online through telehealth and they can see you, they remember you when you were there, so they have more confidence in what you're saying to them, it helps with compliance."	Yes, "If it's a new medication I would call, get on telehealth with them maybe every other day just to be sure that they understand the med they're taking, why they're taking it and to make sure they don't have any questions about it, and they're not frightened to take it for any rea until they're used to taking it, until they get used to the medication. And they are more likely to be compliant, so yes."
-------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

© 2022 Diane Renee Logan

Upon reviewing the identified codes several categories emerged in the data. The categories are listed in Table 3 for each interview guide question that is associated with research question one. For IGQ1, categories that emerged ranged from specific patient populations such as cardiac, transplant and elderly patients and admissions in the home care environment to Covid pandemic increases due to inability to make frequent home visits.

For IGQ2 which asked, "Can you provide an example of how you have used telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies for your patients?" categories that emerged were call, reinforce, explain, and go over.

For IGQ3 which asked, "Do you find using telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies useful? (yes, no, maybe) Can you please explain your response?" All participants found telehealth useful with the categories of monitoring, correspondence with others, joint venture, avoiding problems, a second set of eyes and that it is just like a visit emerging.

Table 3

Categories/Themes Research Question #1

	Categories	Thematic analysis
IGQ1. D	escribe your experiences using telehealth practices to	Nurses utilized telehealth primarily for cardiac and
promote natients	medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly	transplant patients. Telehealth use increases during nandemic
*	Cardiac patients	pundenne
*	Transplant patients	
*	Covid/pandemic	
*	Filderly	
*	Admissions	
•		
IGQ2. C	an you provide an example of how you have used	Telehealth was seen as a tool to oversee the care of the
telehealt	h to incorporate medication compliance strategies for	patient and reinforce education
your pat	ients?	
*	Call	
*	Explain	
*	Observe	
*	Reinforce	
*	Go over	
IGQ3. D complian Can you * * * * *	o you find using telehealth to incorporate medication nee strategies useful? (yes, no, maybe)? please explain your response? Yes Monitoring Correspondence/joint venture Avoids problems Second set of eyes Like a visit	Nurses found using telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies useful

© 2022 Diane Renee Logan

Upon review and reflection on the codes and categories that emerged from the participants responses to IGQ1-3, the following thematic analysis is proposed to address RQ1. Home health nurses' experiences with telehealth practices to promote and manage medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients **primarily focused on** utilizing cardiac and transplant patient, as a tool to oversee patient care and reinforce education. Telehealth utilization increased during the COVID pandemic. Ultimately, nurses found using telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies useful. In response to the question of finding telehealth useful, all participants P1-P10 stated.

Upon review and reflection on the codes and categories that emerged from the participants responses to IGQ1-3, the following thematic analysis is proposed to address RQ1. Home health nurses' experiences with telehealth practices to promote and manage medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients primarily focused on utilizing cardiac and transplant patient, as a tool to oversee patient care and reinforce education. Telehealth utilization increased during the COVID pandemic. Ultimately, nurses found using telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies useful. In response to the question of finding telehealth useful, all participants P1-P10 stated they found telehealth to be very useful. The categories pertaining to this response were monitoring, correspondence with others, joint venture, avoids problems, a second set of eyes and that it is just like a visit. Based on these categories P3 stated, "It allows correspondence/joint venture with pharmacy, medication administration can be monitored."

Visiting nurses found telehealth to be very useful. The categories pertaining to this response were monitoring, correspondence with others, joint venture, avoids problems, a second set of eyes and that it is just like a visit. Based on these categories P3 stated, "It allows correspondence/joint venture with pharmacy, medication administration can be monitored."

To address Research Question 2: What are home health nurses' knowledge regarding the use of telehealth technology as a strategy to manage and promote medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients? The following interview questions were explored: IGQ1. Can you please tell me how you learned about telehealth technology? IGQ2. Tell me how you keep yourself updated with new telehealth technology? IGQ3. What do you see as the benefits of utilizing telehealth to manage and promote medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients, and please provide an example? IGQ4. What do you see as the benefits of utilizing telehealth overall, and please provide an example? IGQ5. What do you see as the

negative aspects of utilizing telehealth to manage and promote medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients, and please provide an example? IGQ6. What do you see as the negative aspects overall of using telehealth, and please provide an example?

Table #4 provides each participant in vivo or descriptive codes identified from their

responses to each interview guide question that was associated to research question 2.

Table 4

Results Research Question #2

IGQ1 Can you please tell me how you learned about telehealth technology?	IGQ2 Tell me how you keep yourself updated with new telehealth technology?	IGQ3 What do you see as the benefits of utilizing telehealth to manage and promote medication compliance of community dwelling elderly patients, please provide an example?
P1 agency "I mean, I learned about it in school, obviously, but actually working with it hands on, it put things in perspective for me."	"Well, our job provides health stream, which is like an e-learning, so they keep us up to date with any changes in the telehealth system, and I try to utilize telehealth at least, two or three times a week, to stay up to date."	"Good for patients who live alone and may have dementia or difficulty remembering." "reminds patients to take their medications." "repetition with telehealth enables patients to state what medications are for and when to take them."
P2 "agency, doing home care case management."	CEU Requirements Certifications Meetings Keeping up to date	"I can include multiple disciplines, like pharmacy, MD, dietician, PT, OT, a magnitude of disciplines all at once." "It allows collaboration in a zoom meeting which can include the patient and family." - Managing medication
P3 Learned at work Hands on application	Training through the agency Mandatory in-services yearly	"I feel it decreases hospitalization rates tremendously."
P4 Agency training During the pandemic	"I rely on other nurses with experience, and word of mouth."	Maintenance of medication compliance Face to face interaction Connecting during pandemic Seeing nurse and physician Ability to talk to someone "Ability to see another person (and) their facial expressions."

Agency on the job training Emailed links from office Hands on experience	"I think it is easier for everybody, we get quicker responses for requests."
IGQ2 Tell me how you keep yourself updated with new telehealth technology?	IGQ3 What do you see as the benefits of utilizing telehealth to manage and promote medication compliance of community dwelling elderly patients, please provide an example?
"When I learn it is with the IT department, oh and we get updates every three months I would say."	It's very consistent It is easy to use
"The good thing with my company, they're very hands on with anything that's new."	"And so, the benefits of having that on program is for that especially for the elderly that they there's like a comfort blanket, a second set of eyes."
At work	"Well through, you know, the telehealth we are educating the patients on how to do it for example, how to monitor their blood pressure. It's all done through camera and they're able to take their medication and adjust things as needed. You know, we're educating them as we would in person on how to take the medication and you know educating them how to monitor their blood pressure since they aren't able to come into the office due to the pandemic."
"I mean, I take it as it comes as it's assigned I request telehealth if it's appropriate and then use it."	It allows repetition A second set of eyes
"Basically, through my organization that I belong to, I mean the anything new that's coming along, they're the ones that usually generate the in-services for that and we're updated pretty frequently."	"It provides reminders and visualization of patients."
IGQ5 What do you see as the negative aspects of utilizing telehealth to manage and promote medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients, please provide an example?	IGQ6 What do you see as the negative aspects overall of using telehealth, please provide an example?
"I feel it is negative if the patient does not have access to the internet, or they are not able to utilize Telehealth technology." Patient must have necessary telehealth equipment.	Poor connection with the internet "I feel if the patient is hard of hearing, they may misinterpret medication directions." Telehealth may not always be accurate due to poor connection.
	Agency on the job training Emailed links from office Hands on experience IGQ2 Tell me how you keep yourself updated with new telehealth technology? "When I learn it is with the IT department, oh and we get updates every three months I would say." "The good thing with my company, they're very hands on with anything that's new." At work "I mean, I take it as it comes as it's assigned I request telehealth if it's appropriate and then use it." "Basically, through my organization that I belong to, I mean the anything new that's coming along, they're the ones that usually generate the in-services for that and we're updated pretty frequently." IGQ5 What do you see as the negative aspects of utilizing telehealth to manage and promote medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients, please provide an example? "I feel it is negative if the patient does not have access to the internet, or they are not able to utilize Telehealth technology." Patient must have necessary telehealth equipment.

P2 Financial benefits Patient support	"You must be tech savvy, have training on this technology which may be intimidating."	"I feel that you are missing touch, missing interaction, you know human touch."
P3 "I think it is fantastic, it decreases hospitalization, and it decreases patients worry/provides security.	"I feel some nurses and the elderly are not capable of using telehealth."	"It is not being used enough and I feel that doctors are not using it enough."
P4 Focuses on medication compliance issues Helps with shortage of nurse Helps with pandemic Decreases depression in patients/mental health issues Decreases social isolation Helps people connect with others Blood pressure and vitals can be monitored	Inability to physically assess patient Inability to do physical vital signs Relying on telehealth monitor Telehealth monitor may display incorrect readings Difficult for elderly	Lack of in person visits Technology barriers
P5 Cost effective Treatments not being delayed Less back and forth Less phone messages Less time delays	Elderly not computer savvy Unable to use technology Some older colleagues can't use technology	Lack of in person connection Lack of developing trust
IGQ4 What do you see as the benefits of utilizing telehealth overall, please provide an example?	IGQ5 What do you see as the negative aspects of utilizing telehealth to manage and promote medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients, please provide an example?	IGQ6 What do you see as the negative aspects overall of using telehealth, please provide an example?
P6 "The patients able to call us right away with their results and we were able to adjust it and tell them what to do and make sure they took the right insulin and the right one and the right dose. And we would have him show us how they drew the insulin up. So, we were on top of it like that and it worked well. And it gave the families and the residents' confidence that they had a nurse help through the whole procedure."	"The only thing I feel is that it there's always a big difference in being in person with somebody versus like going through the computer and the pictures and with seniors, they're not computer literate and it's a little harder for them to realize, you know, they're talking to somebody, to the computer. So, it's a little different thing. I always like to do things in person, but it really is a is a big help."	"I feel it saves time and money and gives the patients and family security, but it is not the same as an in person visit."
P7 "And so the benefits of having a telehealth program are that for the elderly, there's like a comfort blanket, a second set of eyes on them."	"So, I you know that's the only downfall I see about that program is that it could become neurotic and obsessed, especially if a patient who may be dealing with dementia or Alzheimer's."	"I notice is that patients, when they have to send back the equipment, they're actually sad, they feel down because now they don't have someone eyeballing them every day."
P8 "Overall, it's been beneficial, you know, during the pandemic, a lot of people are afraid to seek medical attention due to everything that's going on, so they are more compliant with, you know, follow-ups and visits.	"Well, all I have to say, you know, again we're not able to physically examine the patient also, you know, with controlled substances. You know, we're not able to directly, you know, monitor compliance."	"Like I said since I prescribe controlled substances, I would like to monitor them more closely."

P9 "Sometimes repetition is necessary to assist with compliance, especially if you're dealing with the elderly."	"Sometimes older folks don't like having more than one person involved in their care, they find it overwhelming and invasive, so it takes a bit of convincing."	"Sometimes people feel invaded, and they'd rather have in person visits, especially older folks because, you know, sometimes they're technologically not inclined and it's difficult for them. You know, they only want to see a person in person."
P10 "flexibility of knowing that, you know, she doesn't have to be right there at the patient's house, especially when you've got, you know, a roster of patients to see, and you can always be in touch with your patients face to face on telehealth. It is easier for the nurse to fit those necessary visits in and for the patient. It allows encouragement and the follow up and again most elderly well, I shouldn't say most, but many elderlies live alone, and they don't have the socialization or the support that they generally need. So I think on both	"I think that there are probably no negative aspects if you don't substitute real visitation with telehealth 100% of the time. I think it's always important to see your patients. I mean, there are other things that you might want to assess, things that when you walk right through the door, you notice that you're not going to notice if they're sitting in front of a screen."	"I'm going to go back to what I said before, if you're utilizing it as a substitute for regular visitation, you know, for a mandated visitation, then not all. Are you doing the wrong thing, but you're also cheating your patient out of a proper assessment."
ends, it's very beneficial."		

© 2022 Diane Renee Logan

Upon reviewing the identified codes several categories emerged in the data. The categories are listed in table 5 for each interview guide question that is associated with research question two. For IGQ1 categories that emerged focused on agency training such as IT department, clinics, and in-services. Nurses started using telehealth during the pandemic increasing hands on application reinforced its use as well as introduction of telehealth in nursing school.

For IGQ2 which asked, "Tell me how you keep yourself updated with telehealth technology?" Categories that emerged were agency/training, in-services, IT dept, hands on application, CEU requirements, certifications, meeting, keeping up to date, nurses with experience helping them. Upon review and reflection on the codes and categories that emerged from the participants responses to IGQ1-3, the following thematic analysis is proposed to address RQ1. Home health nurses' experiences with telehealth practices to promote and manage medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients primarily focused on utilizing cardiac and transplant patient, as a tool to oversee patient care and reinforce education. Telehealth utilization increased during the COVID pandemic. Ultimately, nurses found using telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies useful. In response to the question of finding telehealth useful,

all participants P1-P10 stated they found telehealth to be very useful. The categories pertaining to this response were monitoring, correspondence with others, joint venture, avoids problems, a second set of eyes and that it is just like a visit. Based on these categories P3 stated, "It allows correspondence/joint venture with pharmacy, medication administration can be monitored."

For IGQ3 which asked, "What do you see as the benefits of utilizing telehealth to manage and promote medication compliance of community dwelling elderly patients, please provide an example?" categories that emerged were decreased medication errors, financial benefits, patient support, decreased hospitalization, decreased patient worry, patient security, a focus on medication compliance issues, assistance with the nursing shortage, allowing visits during the pandemic, decreasing depression in the patients, decreases social isolation, enabling vital signs and weight to be monitored, providing a second set of eyes, allowing follow up, and that it is flexible and easy to use.

For IGQ4, which asked, "What do you see as the benefits of utilizing telehealth overall?" categories that emerged were decreased medication errors, financial benefits, patient support, decreased hospitalization, decreased patient worry, provides patients security, focuses on medication compliance issues, helps with the nursing shortage, helps during the pandemic, decreases depression in patients, decreases social isolation, vital signs and weight can be monitored, provides a second set of eyes, follow up, flexibility, easy, less back and forth so problems are addressed immediately, less time delays, less phone messages, and it encourages patients.

For IGQ5, "What do you see as the negative aspects of utilizing telehealth to manage and promote medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients, please provide an example? Categories that emerged were patients may not have internet access, the nurse and the

patient must be tech savvy and have training on this technology, technology may intimidate, nurses do not have the inability to perform a physical assessment on patients or take vital signs, they have to rely on the telehealth monitor, the telehealth monitor may display incorrect readings, technology may be difficult for the elderly to use, the nurse is not physically present with the patient, cannot directly monitor compliance, and many people involved on telehealth conference can be overwhelming to the patient.

For IGQ6, "What do you see as the negative aspects overall of using telehealth, please provide an example? categories that emerged were poor connections with the internet, missing human touch, missing human interaction, telehealth is not being used enough by nursing agencies, telehealth is not being used enough by physicians, technology barriers, lack of developing trust with patients and telehealth is not the same as an in-person visit.

Table 5

Categories	Thematic Analysis
IGQ1 Can you please tell me how you learned about telehealth	Telehealth training was offered at agency nurses worked
technology?	at, clinics, IT department training and in-services. Nurses verbalized
Agency/training	that they gained knowledge through hands on experience utilizing
• School	telehealth during the pandemic.
Hands on application	Nurses keep themselves updated with telehealth
• IT department	technology during meetings held at work concerning telehealth
Clinics/training	applications and updates. Nurses with experience also helped fellow
• In-services	colleagues with telehealth use and positive word of mouth of
During pandemic	acceptance and positive experiences reinforced telehealth use.
	Younger participants learned of telehealth technology at
IGQ2 Tell me how you keep yourself updated with new telehealth	the University
technology?	
Agency/training	
• In-services	
• IT dept/training	
Hands-on application	
• CEU Requirements	
Certifications	
• Meetings	
• Keeping up to date	
Nurses with experience	
• Word of mouth	
IGQ3 What do you see as the benefits of utilizing telehealth to	
dwalling alderly patients please provide an example?	
unching crucity patients, prease provide an example:	

Categories/Themes for Research Question #2
Decreased medication errors • Financial benefits • Patient support • Decreased hospitalization • Decreases patient worry • Provides patients security • Focuses on medication compliance issues • Helps with the nursing shortage • Allows visits during the pandemic • Decreases depression in patients • Decrease social isolation • Vital signs and weight can be monitored • Provides a second set of eyes • Follow up • Flexibility • Easy	 Visiting nurses stated that application of telehealth technology decreases medication errors, provides financial benefits, provides a sense of security and support to the patient and family and decreases hospitalization. Visiting nurses found that telehealth technology helps provide nursing visits that would have been decreased due to the nursing shortage and during the pandemic when visits were limited. Visiting nurses noted that depression and social isolation were decreased due to telehealth visits. Telehealth technology enabled monitoring of vital signs, allowed follow up, flexibility, a second set of eyes, and it was easy to use.
IGQ4 What do you see as the benefits of utilizing telehealth overall	□ Visiting nurses stated that application of telehealth technology,
and please provide an example? • Decreased medication errors • Financial benefits • Patient support • Decreases patient worry • Decreases patient worry • Provides patients security • Focuses on medication compliance issues • Helps with the nursing shortage • Helps during the pandemic • Decreases depression in patients • Decreases depression in patients • Decrease social isolation • Vital signs and weight can be monitored • Provides a second set of eyes • Follow up • Flexibility • Less back and forth problems addressed immediately • Less time delays • Less phone messages • Encourages patients	 decreases medication errors, provides financial benefits, provides patient's a sense of security and support to the patient and family and decreases hospitalization. Visiting nurses found that telehealth technology helps provide nursing visits that would have been decreased due to the nursing shortage and during the pandemic when visits were limited. Visiting nurses noted that depression and social isolation was decreased due to telehealth visits. Telehealth technology enabled monitoring of vital signs, allowed follow up, flexibility, a second set of eyes, and it was easy to use. Visiting nurses stated that less medications errors occurred, less back and forth making phone calls, and leaving messages and that delays in time were avoided. All visiting nurses stated that the use of telehealth technology encourages patients to take control of their health needs.
 IGQ5 What do you see as the negative aspects of utilizing telehealth to manage and promote medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients, please provide an example? Patients may not have internet access The nurse and the patient must be tech savvy, have training on this technology Technology may intimidate. Nurses have inability to perform a physical assessment on patients or take vital signs Relying on telehealth monitor Telehealth monitor may display incorrect readings Technology may be difficult for the elderly The nurse is not physically present with the patient Cannot directly monitor compliance Many people involved can be overwhelming to patient 	 Telehealth access may be limited by lack of internet access or necessary telehealth equipment Nurses and patients may not be educated on telehealth technology Technology may be intimidating to nurses and patients The ability to do physical exams and assess patients is limited Inability to do vital signs manually Telehealth equipment may be faulty and display incorrect information Telehealth may involve several disciplines and be overwhelming to the patient
IGQ6What do you see as the negative aspects overall of using telehealth, please provide an example?• Poor connections with the internet• Missing human touch• Missing human interaction• Telehealth is not being used enough by nursing agencies• Telehealth is not being used enough by physicians• Technology barriers• Lack of developing trust with patients• Not the same as in person visit	 Internet availability may be hindered Human touch and human interaction may be limited Telehealth visits do not provide the same quality as in person visits Nursing agencies and physicians are not using telehealth to capacity It is harder to develop a trusting relationship with patients without in person visits

Upon review and reflection of the codes and categories that emerged from the participants responses to IGQ1-6, the following thematic analysis is proposed to address research question RQ 2: Home health nurses' knowledge regarding the use of telehealth technology as a strategy to manage and promote medication compliance of communitydwelling elderly patients primarily focused on telehealth training that was offered at the agencies that nurses worked at, clinics, IT department training and in-services. Nurses verbalized that they gained knowledge through hands on experience utilizing telehealth during the pandemic. Nurses kept themselves updated with telehealth technology during meetings held at work concerning telehealth applications and updates. Nurses with experience also helped fellow colleagues with telehealth use, positive word of mouth, acceptance and positive experiences reinforced telehealth use. The younger participants learned telehealth technology in nursing school. Visiting nurses stated that the application of telehealth technology decreases medication errors, provides financial benefits, provides patient's a sense of security, support to the patient and family and decreases hospitalization. Visiting nurses found that telehealth technology enabled nursing visits that would have been decreased due to the nursing shortage and pandemic when visits were limited, Nurses noted that depression and social isolation were decreased due to telehealth visits, monitoring of vital signs was possible, telehealth allowed follow up, flexibility, a second set of eyes, and it was easy to use. Nurses stressed that less medication errors and back and forth making phone calls to MD offices and agencies helped decrease delays in time. All Participants P1-P10 stated that the use of telehealth technology encourages patients to take control of their health needs. When relating to negative aspects of using telehealth technology nurses stated that telehealth access may be limited by lack of

62

internet access or necessary telehealth equipment, nurses and patients may not be educated on telehealth technology, technology may be intimidating to nurses and patients, the ability to do physical exams and assess patients is limited, inability to do vital signs manually, telehealth equipment may be faulty and display incorrect information and the use of telehealth may involve several disciplines and be overwhelming to the patient. Visiting nurses P1-P10 were concerned that human touch and human interaction may be limited, telehealth visits do not provide the same quality as in person visits, nursing agencies and physicians are not using telehealth to capacity, and it is harder to develop a trusting relationship with patients without in person visits.

To address Research Question 3: What are home health nurses' attitudes regarding the use of telehealth to manage and promote medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients regarding using telehealth technology as a strategy? The following interview questions were explored: IGQ1. Please describe your attitude (feelings/ thoughts) towards utilizing telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies? IGQ2. Would you recommend this technology to the other nurses/employees at your agency? Please explain why? Table 6 provides each participant in vivo or descriptive codes identified from their response to each interview guide question that was associated to the research question 3.

Table 6

IGQ1 Please describe your attitude (feelings/thoughts) towards utilizing telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies?	IGQ2 Would you recommend this technology to the other nurses/employees at your agency?
P1 "Its very convenient and beneficial, minor issues can be solved, a good follow up and the way of the future."	Yes, "I think it is beneficial to everyone."
P2 "It is a win, win, time saver, its easy and I have never had a bad experience with it."	Yes
P3 "All I have to say is that it is awesome."	Yes, "Definitely."

Results Research Question #3

P4 "I love telehealth, it helps maintain medication compliance for my patients."	Yes, "I would recommend it. It's just more convenient at times."
P5 "I love telehealth."	Yes, "With telehealth I was able to get in touch with the office. I was able to get a provider on the phone. They were able to do visit, I would because of the ability to be present at the side of your patient while you're using this technology."
P6 "I prefer to see my patients in person, but I love telehealth."	-Yes, "Well, first of all, I'm an old nurse, so I would recommend it to the young ones, I know that's what they love doing. Everything on the computer and their iPhones. So, I would recommend it and it is, you know, if it works for them, I think it's great."
P7 "I like telehealth, it gives them an incentive, it gives them autonomy and it gives them involved like that. What do they call like self-efficacy."	Yes, "Keeps me in the loop with my patients, I would because the way how the industry is, a lot of people are being referred to home care. It's like you're getting like a large influx of people coming home."
P8 "I feel that it works overall and that it is beneficial."	Yes, "I feel like it works, and it works similar as if they were in the office. I mean, it's just as you know, with technology and being able to teach, you know, patients compliant, it helps with compliance and everything with the care of the patient."
P9 "I think it is very effective and beneficial."	Yes, "On the whole, I'm fine with it. You know, anything that kind of helps to smooth things out and make things run easier for folks."
P10 "I think it's a positive. I don't think there is a negative aspect I mean; I think it is one of the best things."	Yes, it adds to the practice, it's really an important feature, it's really an asset to providing care."

Upon reviewing the identified codes several categories emerged in the data. The categories are listed in Table 7 for each interview guide question that is associated with research question three. For IGQ1, "Please describe your attitude (feelings/thoughts) towards utilizing telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies?" Nurses' attitudes were very positive they stated that telehealth was convenient, beneficial, effective, a good way to follow up with their patients, it promoted autonomy and self-efficacy in their patients. Telehealth was the way of the future and one of the best things in healthcare. For IGQ2 which asked, "Would you

recommend this technology to other nurses/employees at your agency? Please explain why? Categories that emerged were that telehealth was beneficial, convenient, it's great, it works, and they would highly recommend it. Nurses stated that it makes things run much smoother. It's an asset to patient care, it helps patients remain compliant, it adds to the health care practice and is an important feature in healthcare.

Table 7

Categories/Themes for Research Questi	on #3
---------------------------------------	-------

Categories	Thematic Analysis
IGQ1 Please describe your attitude (feelings/ thoughts) towards	Visiting nurses stated that using telehealth technology
utilizing telehealth to incorporate medication compliance	makes things run much easier, adds to health care and is an
strategies?	important feature in the health care system.
Convenient	Visiting nurses agreed that telehealth technology is an
Beneficial	asset to providing patient care
Effective	
Good follow up	
• Way of the future	
Promotes patient autonomy	
Promotes patient self-efficacy	
• One of the best things in healthcare	
IGQ2 would you recommend this	
amployees at your agener? Diago amploin	Uniting purses stated that they would recommend
why?	telebealth technology because it is beneficial convenient
wily.	great and that it works to maintain patient compliance
Banaficial	great and that it works to maintain patient compliance
Would recommend	
Convenient	
• Ut's great	
• It s great	
It works Italing nations remain compliant	
Helps patient remain compliant Melsee things run much assign	
Makes unings run much easier	
Adds to the health care practice	
• Important leature in neathcare	
• An asset to providing patient care	

© 2022 Diane Renee Logan

Upon review and reflection on the codes and categories that emerged from the participants responses to IGQ1-1, the following thematic analysis is proposed to address RQ1. Visiting nurses stated that using telehealth technology makes things run much easier, adds to health care and is an important feature in the health care system. Visiting nurses agreed that telehealth technology is an

asset to providing patient care. IGQ2, "Would you recommend this technology to the other nurses/ employees at your agency? Please explain why?" All participants P1-P10 Visiting nurses stated that they would recommend telehealth technology because it is beneficial, convenient, great and that it works to maintain patient compliance.

To address Research Question 4: What are home health nurses' beliefs regarding the

use of telehealth technology as a strategy to manage and promote medication compliance of

community-dwelling elderly patients? The following interview guide questions were explored:

IGQ1. (Results shown below in table #8)

Table 8

Results for Research Question #4

IGQ1 Can you describe your beliefs regarding the use of telehealth technology as a strategy to manage and promote medication compliance	P1 "I believe Telehealth is useful Elderly population who have difficulty remembering, it's useful if patient has no one at home to assist with medication, it decreases medication errors, and is suitable for nurses and the elderly. Overall, it's a great system and we will Continue using it since pandemic to treat and reach our patients without seeing them live."
	P2 "So, I believe technology does enable people to be home So, you know telehealth is it is the way of the future there's not enough medical staff to be there and there's not enough, you know, hospital beds to care for people and the financial side is also tremendous. I think it's very positive. I think that my belief is that it enables the professional caregiver to devote their time to strategy and, really, managing the care of the patient."
	P3 "Personally love it, provides extra security it's a good teaching tool, and there is a need to advance telehealth and a need for more Apps, a connection of telehealth system to phone."
	P4 "I think it is helpful, especially because then the resident is seeing their physician face to face and they're getting the instructions from them face to face, I think that it's good if they had the choice to be seen, and are able to be seen in person, then that's number one, but if they're not, this is a great way to still connect them to their different providers and be able to manage their plan of care and their medication regimens."
	P5 "I believe it's easier, convenient, provides flexibility, coordinates care."
	P6 "I believe there is a place for it."
	P7 "So I just feel that my belief with the whole telehealth system is that once you can get the elderly population comfortable with using technology which a lot of them are scared of, I think it will be, a benefit all of them and the nurses."

P8 "I feel I feel that it works and well, you know that it's helpful, it assures that the elderly patient is getting help, and you are educating the family also."
P9 "I believe it is a second set of eyes, I believe it can be helpful if the patient is receptive, it is helpful in catching medications errors and promotes medication compliance."
P10 "I think it's just the encouragement and the follow up and again most elderly well, I shouldn't say most, but a large number of elderly live alone so it provides socialization and support for the elderly."

Upon reviewing the identified codes several categories emerged in the data. The categories are listed in table 9 for the IGQ question that is associated with the research question. For IGQ1 categories that emerged were positive in regard to telehealth use. Telehealth was found to be, useful, helpful, decreases medication errors, is suitable for nurses and elderly patients, a great system, continued use since pandemic, enables people to remain at home, telehealth is the way of the future due to limited staff and limited financial resources, it enables the professional caregiver to devote their time and strategy to manage the care of their patients, it is a good teaching tool, there is a need to advance telehealth, a need for more telehealth apps, helps to manage the plan of care and medication regimens, provides extra security, it's easier, more convenient, flexible, Coordinates care, there is a place for telehealth, its beneficial, it works well, assures that the elderly are getting health care, educates the family, a second set of eyes, promotes medication compliance, encourages patients, provides follow up, provides socialization and support to the elderly.

Table 9

Categories	Thematic Analysis	
IGQ1 Can you describe your beliefs regarding the use of telehealth	□ Visiting nurses agreed that the application of telehealth	
technology as a strategy to manage and promote medication	technology was useful, helpful, and decreased medication	
compliance	errors. Visiting nurses found telehealth technology to be	
• Useful	suitable for both nurses and elderly patients.	
• Helpful	□ Visiting nurses stated that since the pandemic they will	
Decreases medication errors	continue to utilize telehealth and that it is a great system	

Categories/Themes for Research Question #4

•	Is suitable for nurses and elderly patients		that enables their patients to stay at home; they feel it is the	
•	A great system	way of the future		
•	Continue to use it since pandemic	Visiting nurses state due to limited staff and financial resources it		
•	Enables people to remain at home	enables	them to devote their time and strategy to manage the care of	
•	Telehealth is the way of the future due to limited staff and	their pat	ients and there is a need to advance telehealth with more	
	limited financial resources	apps. Nu	urses agree that telehealth is a good teaching tool which	
•	It enables the professional caregiver to devote their time	helps the	em to manage the plan of care and medication regimen of	
	and strategy to manage the care of their patients	their pat	ients	
•	Good teaching tool		Visiting nurses stated that telehealth technology is easy to	
•	There is a need to advance telehealth		use, convenient, allows flexibility and the ability to	
•	A need for more telehealth apps		coordinate care using an interdisciplinary approach.	
•	Manages plan of care and medication regimens		Nurses believe there is a place for telehealth in home care	
•	Provides extra security		and that it ensures that the elderly population is receiving	
•	Easier		assistance by providing a second set of eyes.	
•	More convenient		Visiting nurses state that they are able to educate the	
•	Flexible		patient as well as the family to promote medication	
•	Coordinate care		compliance, encourage the patient and provide follow up	
•	There is a place for telehealth		via telehealth visits if the nurse cannot visit in person.	
•	Beneficial		Visiting nurses agreed that telehealth provides	
•	It works well		socialization and support to the elderly population	
•	It assures that the elderly are getting health care			
•	Also educates the family			
•	A second set of eyes			
•	Promotes medication compliance			
•	Encourages patient			
•	Provides follow up			
•	Provides socialization to the elderly			
•	Provides support for the elderly			

Upon review and reflection on the codes and categories that emerged from the participants response to IGQ1, the following thematic analysis is proposed to address RQ1. Visiting nurses agreed that the application of telehealth technology was useful, helpful, and decreased medication errors. Visiting nurses found telehealth technology to be suitable for both nurses and elderly patients. They stated that since the pandemic they will continue to utilize telehealth and that it is a great system that enables their patients to stay at home; they feel it is the way of the future, due to limited staff and financial resources it enables them to devote their time and strategy to manage the care of their patients and there is a need to advance telehealth with more apps. Nurses agree that telehealth is a good teaching tool which helps them to manage the plan of care and medication regimen of their patients, telehealth technology is easy to use, convenient, allows flexibility and the ability to coordinate care using an interdisciplinary approach. Nurses believe there is a place for telehealth in home care and that it ensures that the elderly population is receiving assistance by

providing a second set of eyes, they are able to educate the patient as well as the family to promote medication compliance, encourage the patient and provide follow up via telehealth visits if the nurse cannot visit in person. Visiting nurses agreed that telehealth provides socialization and support to the elderly population.

To address Research Question 5: "How ready are home health nurses to use telehealth technology as a strategy to manage and promote medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients?" The following interview guide questions were explored: IGQ1 Describe how prepared you feel (ready) to utilize telehealth technology to incorporate medication compliance strategies? IGQ2. Describe ways in which you have prepared yourself to utilize telehealth? IGQ3. Can you describe the resources you believe would be helpful to increase readiness to utilize telehealth technology? Table 10 provides each participant in vivo or descriptive codes identified from their responses to each interview question that was associated to research question 5.

Table 10

Results j	for Res	search 🤵	Question	#5
-----------	---------	----------	----------	----

IGQ1 Describe how prepared you feel (ready) to utilize telehealth technology to incorporate medication compliance strategies?	IGQ2 Describe ways in which you have prepared yourself to utilize telehealth?	IGQ3 Can you describe the resources you believe would be helpful to increase readiness to utilize telehealth technology?
P1 "I feel pretty confident, I'm very tech savvy, I have been utilizing it for a while."	"I have many meetings and in-services at work."	"Conferences and training, step by step on how to use it, reaching out to IT department, extra support from c promotion of technology by colleagues."
P2 "I feel very ready."	"In-services at work and practicing."	"YouTube videos are helpful."
P3 "Completely comfortable, I use a lot at agency, on a daily basis."	"E-mail links offered through the agency I work at."	"In nursing school by putting telehealth education into curriculum."

P4 "I feel confident in in using it now; it's taken some time to get used to."	"Hands on application and in-services."	"Agency training and YouTube videos."
P5 "Pretty ready, comfortable."	"At the agency that I work at, we have many in-services."	"In-services at work."
IGQ1 Describe how prepared you feel (ready) to utilize telehealth technology to incorporate medication compliance strategies?	IGQ2 Can you describe ways in which you have prepared yourself to utilize telehealth?	IGQ3 Can you describe the resources you believe would be helpful to increase readiness to utilize telehealth technology?
P6 "Well I think I am prepared."	"At the agency, meetings and training."	"IT person at agency on call and other colleagues."
P7 "Very prepared."	"In-services at work."	"On the job training and in-services."
P8 "I feel ready, have been using it for a couple years on a daily basis."	"E-mail links at work."	"Agency system updates, helping others use it, and hands-on practice and online resources."
P9 "I feel very prepared." -	"Hands on experiences, application."	"Educational e-mails sent from agency and hands on training."
P10 "I feel very prepared."	"During Covid I utilized it a lot."	"Excellent training at agency."

Upon reviewing the identified codes several categories emerged in the data. The categories are listed in table 11 for each interview guide question that is associated with research question 4. For IGQ 1 categories that emerged were that visiting nurses felt confident, comfortable and very ready to utilize telehealth.

For IGQ2 which asked, "Can you describe the ways in which you have prepared yourself to utilize telehealth?" Nurses stated that telehealth application increased during the COVID pandemic providing more hands-on application of telehealth technology. Nursing agencies provided in-services and, e-mail training links to educate nurses.,

For IGQ3, "Can you describe the resources you believe would be helpful to increase readiness to utilize telehealth technology?" Several responses included, e-learning, in-services, nurse educators, mentors and other colleagues, positive word of mouth, conferences, training on the job from the IT department, and continued promotion of technology at the agency. Outside of employment nurses found YouTube videos to be extremely helpful and younger nurses stated they learned about telehealth application in Nursing School.

Table 11

Categories/Themes for Research Question #5

/Categories	Thematic Analysis
Q1 Describe how prepared you feel (ready) to utilize telehealth	Visiting nurses stated that they feel confident,
technology to incorporate medication compliance strategies?	comfortable, prepared and very ready to utilize telehealth technology
• Confident	
Very ready	
Completely comfortable	
Very prepared	
Q2 Can you describe ways in which you have prepared yourself to	Visiting nurses stated that they received telehealth
utilize telehealth?	training at the agencies in which they were employed. Agencies
• In-services	provided in-services and e-mail links via agency e-mail that provides
• At the agency	step by step training modules
E-mail links at work	

Hands on application During Covid	Visiting nurses stated that they had to prepare quickly through hands-on experience during the COVID pandemic.
IGQ3. Can you describe the resources you believe would be helpful to increase readiness to utilize telehealth technology? • E-learning • In-services • Nurse educator at agency • Mentor on nursing visits from agency • Word of mouth • Other nurses • Conferences • Training on the job • IT department • Support from other colleagues • Continues promotion of technology at agency • YouTube videos • In nursing school	 Visiting nurses stated that the agency where they were employed provided e-learning, in-services, conferences, IT department support as well as nurse educators and nurse mentors Visiting nurses mentioned that word of mouth and support of other nurse colleagues increased their confidence in utilizing telehealth Visiting nurses who were recent graduates stated that they learned about the use of telehealth technology in home care in school Visiting nurses stated that YouTube videos were also helpful to learn about telehealth technology

Upon reflection on the codes and categories that emerged from the participants responses to IGQ1-3, the following thematic analysis is proposed to address RQ1. Visiting nurses stated that they feel confident, comfortable, prepared and very ready to utilize telehealth technology.

IGQ2. "Can you describe ways in which you have prepared yourself to utilize telehealth?" Visiting nurses stated that they received telehealth training at the agencies in which they were employed. Agencies provided in-services and e-mail links via agency e-mail that provided step by step training modules. Visiting nurses stated that they had to prepare quickly through hands-on experience during the COVID pandemic.

IGQ3. "Can you describe the resources you believe would be helpful to increase readiness to utilize telehealth technology?" Visiting nurses stated that the agency where they were employed provided e-learning, in-services, conferences, IT department support as well as nurse educators and nurse mentors. Visiting nurses mentioned that word of mouth and support of other nurse colleagues increased their confidence in utilizing telehealth. Visiting nurses who were recent graduates stated that they learned about the use of telehealth technology in nursing

school. Outside of employment visiting nurses stated that YouTube videos were also helpful to learn about telehealth technology.

In conclusion, all interviews visiting nurses were very positive in using telehealth applications to manage and promote medication compliance in the home care environment for the elderly dwelling adult.

Chapter V

DISCUSSION

The Diffusion of Innovation theory (DOI) was effective as a lens through which to assess visiting nurses' knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs regarding employing telehealth technology in the home care environment to assist the elderly dwelling patient with medication management strategies. This study provided insight that visiting nurses accept telehealth technology, are supportive of its continued use, and are willing to be educated on future advancement in this technology to assist the elderly home care patient with medication compliance strategies. Visiting nurses also identified that they enjoyed utilizing telehealth technology, that it was easy to use and convenient, and that it enabled them to fill the visit void related to limited staff and financial restraints.

Based upon the work of Carl Rogers, the Diffusion of Innovation Theory states that the adoption of innovation depends upon individual characteristics and attributes. Rogers stated an "individual's perceptions or acceptance of technology predicts the rate of adoption of innovation." Rogers also noted that although there is a lot of research exploring the diffusion theory and characteristics of the adopter categories, there is a lack of research on the effects of the perceived characteristics of innovation on the rate of adoption. Rogers defined the rate of adoption as "the relative speed with which an innovation is adopted by members of a social system." Therefore, the findings of this study which evaluated the knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs of visiting nurses on their use, acceptance or rejection of telehealth application in the home care environment, showed visiting nurses agreed that telehealth use improves care in regard to medication compliance in the elderly home care population. Additionally, as nurses

began to utilize this accepted telehealth technology, they encouraged other colleagues to utilize it at the intra-level within the agency. According to Rogers, the visiting nurse was the change agent that encouraged and promoted telehealth use in the home care environment. While Rogers's Diffusion of innovation was effective as a lens to explore visiting nurses' acceptance and adaptation to telehealth technology, the Knowledge, Attitudes and Behavior (KAB) theory was instrumental in exploring the behaviors of the visiting nurses. Specifically, the KAB theory provided a lens for exploring the cognitive constructs associated with the intervention, allowing a justifiable reason for innovation acceptance. Guided by the KAB model the study findings support that behavior changed gradually and as knowledge accumulated in the health behavior domain, changes in the nurses' attitudes were initiated concerning their use of telehealth technology. Over time, as a result, a positive attitude developed and resulted in a behavioral change. The nurses' positive attitude and behavior change showed that they also encouraged and recommended other colleagues to utilize telehealth technology.

Chapter VI

CONCLUSION

The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid recognize that the discharge planning process should ensure patients and caregivers are prepared to be active partners and advocates for their healthcare and community support needs (Centers for Medicaid and Medicare Services-CMS, 2015). Adherence to medication plans in the home care setting in relation to hospital readmission is one of the many major issues among the Medicare population impacting their ability to live well at home. The lack of adherence to medication plans is also a key factor in costly hospital readmissions for the Medicare population who live independently. Recognizing that visiting nurses are in a key position to provide care after hospital discharge, which can promote medication adherence and reduce the chance of hospital readmission the findings from this study which sought to understand visiting nurses' knowledge, attitudes and beliefs regarding the innovation of telehealth to incorporate medication compliance strategies offered foundational insight that can be used to guide nursing practices in home care.

The use of telehealth technologies by visiting nurses can be used to monitor self-care, coach, and supervise elderly patients to continue to live well at home. Competent and effective utilization of telehealth technology and equipment by nurses in provision of healthcare must be the goal (Day et al., 2016).

Ensuring that visiting nurses are informed and ready to take on this role is imperative. Nursing educational programs and home health agencies must provide evidenced based educational opportunities that promote nurses' ability and confidence to utilize telehealth technology in order for it to be successful.

76

REFERENCES

- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ). (n.d.). *Medications at Transitions and Clinical Handoffs (MATCH) Toolkit for Medication Reconciliation*. <u>http://www.ahrq.gov/qual/match/</u>
- Ajzen, I. (1985). From intentions to action: A theory of planned behavior. In J. Kuhl, & J. Beckman (Eds.), *Action-control: From cognition to behavior* (pp. 11-39). Springer.
- Ajzen, I. (1988). Attitudes, Personality, and Behavior. Dorsey Press.
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The Theory of Planned Behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50, 170-211.
- Alvarez, Dr. Chris. (2020, December 8). *Medication Adherence and Telemedicine*. Healthchat. <u>https://www.healthchatpro.com/medication-adherence-telemedicine/</u>
- Amarneh, B.H. (2017). Nurses' perspectives on readiness of organizations for change: a comparative study. *Nursing: Research and Reviews*, 7, 37–44. https://doi.org/10.2147/nrr.s126703
- Baranowski, T., Cullen, K.W., Nicklas, T.A., Thompson, D.I., & Baranowski, J. (2003). Are current health behavioral change models helpful in guiding prevention of weight gain efforts? *Obesity Research*, 11 Suppl, 23S-43S.
- Barber, N., Parsons, J., Clifford S. Patient's problems with new medications for chronic conditions. (2004). *Quality and Safety in Health Care*, 13(3), 172-5. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/qshc.2003.005926</u>
- Barello, S., Triberti, S., and Graffigna, G. et al. (2016). eHealth for patient engagement: A systematic review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *6*, 2013.
- Barett, Donnal, Secic, Michelle., & Borowske, Debbie. (2010). The Gatekeeper Program. *Home Healthcare Nurse*, 28(3), 191–197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.nhh.0000369772.41656.4e</u>
- Bevil, C.W. (1981). Medication management in an elderly, community-based population: a pilot project. *Journal of the New York State Nurses Association*, *12*(2), 19-29.

- Brath, H., Morak, J., Kästenbauer, T., Modre-Osprian, R., Strohner-Kästenbauer, H., Schwarz, M., Schreier, G. (2013). Mobile health (mHealth) based medication adherence measurement a pilot trial using electronic blisters in diabetes patients. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 76, 47–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.12184</u>
- Braun, M.T. (2013). Obstacles to social networking website use among older adults. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29(3), pp. 673-680.
- Business Bliss Consultants FZE. (2018, November). *Diffusion of Innovation Challenge for Nurses*. <u>https://nursinganswers.net/essays/diffusion-of-innovation-challenge-for-nurses-</u> <u>nursing-essay.php?vref=1</u>
- Celio, J., Ninane, F., Bugnon, O., & Schneider, M. P. (2018). Pharmacist-nurse collaborations in medication adherence-enhancing interventions: A review. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 101(7), 1175–1192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2018.01.022</u>
- Cerio, R. (2017). The importance of patient-centered care to overcome barriers in the management of actinic keratosis. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology*, *31*, 17-20.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020, December 3). Cost-Related Nonadherence and Mortality in Patients With Chronic Disease: A Multiyear Investigation, National Health Interview Survey, 2000–2014. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0244.htm</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (n.d.). https://www.cdc.gov/

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (n.d.). *MMWR Surveillance Summaries: Past Volume*, 64. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/indss_2015.html</u>
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Medicare and Medicaid Supplemental Statistics, 2013 Edition. *Table 7.2 Trends in Persons Served, Visits, Visit Charges and Program Payments for Medicare Home Health Agency Services: Calendar Year 2012.* <u>http://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/MedicareMedicaidStatSupp/Downloads/2013_Section7.pdf#Table7.2</u>
- Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2019). Medicare Home Health Benefit fact sheet. <u>https://www.cms.gov/Outreach-and-Education/Medicare-Learning-Network-</u> <u>MLN/MLNProducts/Downloads/Home-health-benefit-fact-sheet-ICN908143.pdf</u>

- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). (2015, November 3) *Medicare and Medicaid programs; Revisions to requirements for discharge planning for hospitals, critical access hospitals, and home health agencies.* <u>https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2015/11/03/2015-27840/medicare-and-</u> <u>medicaid-programs-revisions-to-requirements-for-discharge-planning-for-hospitals.</u>
- Cohen, M.J., Shaykevich, S., Cawthon, C., Kripalani, S., Paasche-Orlow, M.K., & Schnipper, J.L. (2012). Predictors of medication adherence post discharge: The impact of patient age, insurance status, and prior adherence. *Journal of Hospital Medicine*, 7(6), 470–475. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jhm.1940</u>
- Coleman, E. A., Smith, J. D., Raha, D., & Min, S. J. (2005). Posthospital medication discrepancies: prevalence and contributing factors. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 165(16), 1842–1847. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.165.16.1842</u>
- Cox, E. R., & Henderson, R. R. (2002). Prescription use behavior among Medicare beneficiaries with capped prescription benefits. *Journal of Managed Care & Specialty Pharmacy*: 8(5), 360–364. <u>https://doi.org/10.18553/jmcp.2002.8.5.360</u>
- Creswell, J.W. (2009). *Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches (3 ed.).* Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J.W., & Plano Clark, V.L. (2011). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*. Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J.W., Plano Clark, V.L., Gutmann, M.L., & Hanson, W.E. (2003). Advanced Mixed Methods Research Designs. In A. Tashakkori, & C. Teddlie (Eds.). *Handbook of Mixed Methods in Social and Behavioral Research* (pp. 209-240). Sage. <u>https://www.scirp.org/(S(lz5mqp453edsnp55rrgjct55))/reference/ReferencesPapers.aspx?</u> <u>ReferenceID=2112609</u>.
- Delamater, A.M. (2006). Improving Patient Adherence. *Clinical Diabetes*, 24(2), 71–77. https://doi.org/10.2337/diaclin.24.2.71
- Dunton, N. (2004). The NDNQI-Adapted Index of Work Satisfaction. *Journal of Nursing Measurement*, 12(2), 101–122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1891/jnum.2004.12.2.101</u>
- Dillman, D.A. (1978). Mail and Telephone Surveys: The Total Design Method. Wiley.

- DiMatteo M. R. (2004). Variations in patients' adherence to medical recommendations: a quantitative review of 50 years of research. *Medical Care*, 42(3), 200–209. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.mlr.0000114908.90348.f9
- Donovan, J. L., & Blake, D. R. (1992). Patient non-compliance: deviance or reasoned decisionmaking? Social Science and Medicine, 34(5), 507-513. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(92)90206-6</u>
- Donovan, J.L. (2002) Patient decision making. The missing ingredient in compliance research. International Journal of Technological Assessment in Health Care, 11, 443-455.
- Dormann, H., Neubert, A., Criegee-Rieck, M., Egger, T., Radespiel-Tröger, M., Azaz-Livshits, T., Levy, M., Brune, K. and Hahn, E.G. (2004), Readmissions and adverse drug reactions in internal medicine: the economic impact. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 255, 653-663. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2796.2004.01326.x</u>
- Doyle, G.J., Garrett, B., & Currie, L.M. (2014). Integrating mobile devices into nursing curricula: Opportunities for implementation using Rogers' Diffusion of Innovation model. *Nurse Education Today*, 34(5), 775–782. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2013.10.021</u>
- Doyle, E., & Meurer, J. (1983). Missouri legislation and litigation. Practicing medicine without a license. *The Nurse Practitioner*, 8(6), 41–44.
- Fallis, B.A., Dhalla, I.A., Klemensberg, J., & Bell, C.M. (2013). Primary Medication Non-Adherence after Discharge from a General Internal Medicine Service. *PLOS ONE*, 8(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061735
- Forster, A J., Murff, H.J., Peterson, J.F., Gandhi, T.K., & Bates, D.W. (2003). The incidence and severity of adverse events affecting patients after discharge from the hospital. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 138(3), 161. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-138-3-200302040-00007</u>
- Foster, M. V., & Sethares, K. A. (2014). Facilitators and barriers to the adoption of telehealth in older adults: an integrative review. *Computers, Informatics, Nursing*, 32(11), 523–535. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/CIN.00000000000105</u>
- Frey, D. & Rahman, A. (2003). Medication Management: An Evidence-Based Model That Decreases Adverse Events. *Home Healthcare Nurse*, *21*(6), 404-412.

Green, Lawrence W., Patricia D. Mullen and Gene L. Stainbrook. (1984) Programs

to Reduce Drug Errors in the Elderly: Direct and Indirect Evidence from Patient Education. Improving Patient Compliance: Proceedings of a Symposium, National Pharmaceutical Council, Reston, VA, United States.

- Haynes, R., Brian, D., Taylor, W., and Sackett, D.L. (1979). *Compliance in Health Care*. John Hopkins University Press.
- Haynes R.B., McDonald, H.P., Garg, A.X. (2002). Helping patients follow prescribed treatment: clinical applications. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 288, 2880–2883.
- Haynes, R.B., Yao, X., Degani, A., Kripalani, S., Garg, A., McDonald, H.P., et al. (2005). (CD000011) *Interventions to enhance medication adherence*. Cochrane Database Library.
- Henriques, M.A.C. (2012, November 1). Adherence and medication management by the elderly, Journal of Clinical Nursing. DeepDyve. <u>https://www.deepdyve.com/lp/wiley/adherence-and-medication-management-by-the-elderly-s4jjF3U1TJ</u>
- Henry, B. W., Block, D. E., Ciesla, J. R., McGowan, B. A., & Vozenilek, J. A. (2017). Clinician behaviors in telehealth care delivery: a systematic review. Advances in Health Sciences Education: Theory and Practice, 22(4), 869–888. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-016-9717-2</u>
- Verloo, H., Chiolero, A., Kiszio, B., Kampel, T., & Santschi, V. (2017). Nurse interventions to improve medication adherence among discharged older adults: a systematic review. Age and Ageing, 46(5), 747–754. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afx076</u>
- Kääriäinen M., Paukama M., Kyngäs H. (2013). Adherence with health regimens of patients with warfarin therapy. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 22, 89–96.
- Kastner, P., Morak, J., Modre, R., Kollmann, A., Ebner, C., Fruhwald, F., & Schreier, G. (2010). Innovative telemonitoring system for cardiology: from science to routine operation. *Applied Clinical Informatics*, 1(2), 165–176. <u>https://doi.org/10.4338/ACI-2009-12-RA-0021</u>
- Katz, M. G., Kripalani, S., & Weiss, B. D. (2006). Use of pictorial aids in medication instructions: A review of the literature. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 63(23), 2391-2397. <u>https://doi.org/10.2146/ajhp060162</u>
- Kaufman, D. R., Starren, J., Patel, V. L., Morin, P. C., Hilliman, C., Pevzner, J., Weinstock, R. S., Goland, R., & Shea, S. (2003). A cognitive framework for understanding barriers to the

productive use of a diabetes home telemedicine system. American Medical Informatics Association Annual Symposium proceedings, AMIA Symposium, 356-360.

- Keeling, A. (2006) Midway between the Pharmacist and the Physician: The Work of the Henry Street Settlement Visiting Nurses, 1893-1944. *Nursing and the Privilege of Prescription:* 1893-2000 (p. 1-27). The Ohio State University.
- Keeling, A. (2015). Historical Perspectives on an Expanded Role for Nursing. *The Online Journal* of Issues in Nursing, 20(2), Manuscript 2.
- Koivunen, M., & Saranto, K. (2018). Nursing professionals' experiences of the facilitators and barriers to the use of telehealth applications: a systematic review of qualitative studies. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 32(1), 24–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/scs.12445</u>
- Kritsonis, A. (2004-2005). Comparison of Change Theories. *International Journal of Scholarly Academic Intellectual Diversity*, 8(1).
- Kripalani, S., Yao, X., Haynes, B. (2007). Interventions to enhance medication adherence in chronic medical conditions, *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *167*, 540-549.
- Krousel-Wood, M., Hyre, A., Muntner, P., & Morisky, D. (2005). Methods to improve medication adherence in patients with hypertension: current status and future directions. *Current Opinion in Cardiology*, 20(4), 296–300. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.hco.0000166597.52335.23
- Langbecker D., Caffery L.J., Gillespie N., Smith A.C. (2017) Using survey methods in telehealth research: A practical guide. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 23(9), 770-779. doi:<u>10.1177/1357633X17721814</u>
- Lee, S., Jiang, L., Dowdy, D., Hong, Y. A., & Ory, M. G. (2018). Attitudes, beliefs, and costrelated medication nonadherence among adults aged 65 or older with chronic diseases. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 15, E148. <u>https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd15.180190</u>
- Logan, D.R. (2109). Transition from hospital to home: the role of the nurse case manager in promoting medication adherence in the Medicare population. *Creative Nursing*, 25(2), 126–132. DOI:10.1891/1078-4535.25.2.126

- Mamat, R., Awang, S. A., Mohd Ariffin, S. A., Zakaria, Z., Che Zam, M. H., & Ab Rahman, A.
 F. (2021). Knowledge and attitude toward medication error among pharmacists. *Hospital Pharmacy*, 56(6), 765–771. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0018578720965414</u>
- Mamolen, N.L., & Brenner, P.S. (2000). The impact of a burn wound education program and implementation of a clinical pathway on patient outcomes. *Journal of Burn Care & Rehabilitation*, 21(5), 440–445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00004630-200021050-00010</u>.
- March 2019 Report to the Congress: Medicare Payment Policy-MedPac. (n.d.). Medpac. <u>https://www.medpac.gov/document/march-2019-report-to-the-congress-medicare-payement-policy/</u>
- Marek, K., Stetzer, F., Ryan, P.A., Bub, L.D., Adams, S.J., Schlidt, A., O'Brien, A.M. (2015, June 19). Nurse care coordination and technology effects on health status of frail older adults via enhanced self-management of medication: randomized clinical trial to test efficacy. Arizona State University. <u>https://asu.pure.elsevier.com/en/publications/nursecare-coordination-and-technology-effects-on-health-status-o</u>.
- Makaryus, A. N., & Friedman, E. A. (2005). Patients' understanding of their treatment plans and diagnosis at discharge. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 80(8), 991–994. https://doi.org/10.4065/80.8.991
- McColl, E., Jacoby, A., Thomas, L., Soutter, J., Bamford, C., Steen, N., Thomas, R., Harvey, E., Garratt, A., & Bond, J. (2001). Design and use of questionnaires: a review of best practice applicable to surveys of health service staff and patients. *Health Technology Assessment*, 5(31), 1–256. <u>https://doi.org/10.3310/hta5310</u>
- Medicaid. CMS 2016 Quality Strategy. <u>https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Initiatives-</u> <u>Patient-Assessment-Instruments/QualityInitiativesGenInfo/Downloads/CMS-2016-</u> <u>Quality-Strategy-Slides.pdf</u>
- The Medicare Payment Advisory Commission. Home. (n.d.). <u>https://www.medpac.gov</u> Medicare. CMS. (n.d.). <u>https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Medicare</u>
- Morak, J., Modre, R., Kollmann, A., Ebner, C., Fruhwald, F. M., Schreier, G., & Kastner, P. (2010). Innovative telemonitoring system for cardiology: from science to routine operation. *Applied Clinical Informatics*, 01(02), 165–176. <u>https://doi.org/10.4338/aci-2009-12-ra-0021</u>

- Morak, J., Schwarz, M., Hayn, D., & Schreier, G. (2012). Feasibility of mHealth and near field communication technology-based medication adherence monitoring. Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, San Diego, CA, United States. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/embc.2012.6345922</u>
- Morris, L.S. & Schulz, R.M. (1992) Patient compliance: an overview. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics*, 17, 183–195.
- Mulhem, E., Lick, D., Varughese, J., Barton, E., Ripley, T., & Haveman, J. (2013). Adherence to medications after hospital discharge in the elderly. *International Journal of Family Medicine*, 2013, 901845. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/901845</u>
- Mullen, P.D. (1997) Compliance becomes concordance. Making a change in terminology produces a change in behavior. *British Medical Journal*, *314*, 691-692.
- Naghavi, S., Mehrolhassani, M. H., Nakhaee, N., & Yazdi-Feyzabadi, V. (2019). Effective factors in non-compliance with therapeutic orders of specialists in outpatient clinics in Iran: a qualitative study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 19(1), 413. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4229-4</u>

National Association for Home Care & Hospice. (n.d.). https://www.nahc.org/

- National Committee to Preserve Social Security and Medicare. (2017). *Fast facts about Medicare*. <u>http://www.ncpssm.org/Medicare/MedicareFastFacts</u>
- National Council on Patient Information and Education. (2013) Accelerating Progress in Prescription Medicine Adherence: The Adherence Action Agenda. A National Action Plan to Address America's "Other Drug Problem". <u>http://bemedicinesmart.org</u>.
- National Transitions of Care Coalition. (2010, September). Improving transitions of care: findings and considerations of the vision of the national transitions of care coalition. http://www.ntocc.org/portals/0/pdf/resources/ntoccissuebriefs.pdf.
- Nikolaus, T., Kruse, W., Bach, M., Specht-Leible, N., Oster, P., & Schlierf, G. (1996). Elderly patients' problems with medication. An in-hospital and follow-up study. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 49(4), 255–259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00226324</u>

- NursingAnswers.net. (2018, November). *Diffusion of Innovation Challenge for Nurses*. <u>https://nursinganswers.net/essays/diffusion-of-innovation-challenge-for-nurses-nursing-essay.php?vref=1</u>
- O'Connell, B., Crawford, S., Tull, A., & Gaskin, C. J. (2007). Nurses' attitudes to single checking medications: before and after its use. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 13(6), 377–382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-172X.2007.00653.x</u>
- Oldenburg, J. (2020) Patient Engagement in a Patient-Centered Medical Home. In *Engage*!, 165–166. HIMSS Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780367648015</u>
- Osterberg, L. and Blaschke, T. (2005). Adherence to medication. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 353(5), 487–497.
- O'Quin, K.E., Semalulu, T., & Orom, H. (2015). Elder and caregiver solutions to improve medication adherence. *Health Education Research*, 30(2), 323–335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/her/cyv009</u>.
- Parisot, A.H. (1995). Technology and teaching: The adoption and diffusion of technological innovations by a community college faculty (UMI No. AAT 9542260 [Doctoral dissertation, Montana State University]. ProQuest DigitalDissertations.
- Pereira, F., von Gunten, A., Rosselet Amoussou, J., De Giorgi Salamun, I., Martins, M. M., & Verloo, H. (2019). Polypharmacy among home-dwelling older adults: the urgent need for an evidence-based medication management model. *Patient Preference and Adherence, 13*, 2137–2143. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S232575</u>
- Pittman, P.M., Kurtzman, E.T., Johnson, J.E. (2014). Academic progression models in nursing: design decisions faced by administrators in four case studies. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 53(6), 329-335.
- Pittman, Tim. (2018, November 20). Medication Nonadherence Increases Health Costs, Hospital Readmissions Patients with Chronic Diseases Are Likely to Discontinue Prescriptions. Duke Health Referring Physicians. https://physicians.dukehealth.org/articles/medication-nonadherence-increases-health-costshospital-readmissions
- Porter-O'Grady, T., & Malloch, K. (2011). *Quantum Leadership: Advancing Innovation, Transforming Health Care.* Jones & Bartlett Learning.

- Praska JL, Kripalani S, Seright AL, Jacobson TA. (2005). Identifying and assisting low-literacy patients with medication use: a survey of community pharmace. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy*, *39*(9):1441-1445. doi:10.1345/aph.1G094
- Reeder, B., et al. (2013). Older Adults' Satisfaction with a Medication Dispensing Device in Home Care. *Informatics for Health and Social Care*, 38(3), 211–222. DOI: 10.3109/17538157.2012.741084
- Reeder, B., Zaslavsky, O., Wilamowska, K., Demiris, G., Thompson, H.J. (2011). Modeling the Oldest Old: Personas to Design Technology-Based Solutions for Older Adults. American Medical Informatics Association Annual Symposium proceedings, AMIA Symposium, 1166–1175.
- Robbins, B., Rausch, K.J., Garcia, R.I. Multicultural medication adherence: a comparative study. (2004). *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, *30*(7), 25-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/0098-9134-20040701-07</u>
- Rogers, E.M. (2003). Diffusion of Innovations. Free Press.
- Rogers, E.M. (2010, July 6). *Diffusion of Innovations, 4th Edition*. Google Books. <u>https://books.google.com/books/about/Diffusion_of_Innovations_4th_Edition.html?id=v_1ii4QsB7jIC</u>
- Rogers, J. D., Ferrell, J. H., Curbow, J. E., & Friedrichs, C. (1992). An updated overview of the LEB rf system. *Supercollider 4*, 841-847.
- Rogers, J., Perlic, M., & Madigan, E.A. (2007). The Effect of Frontloading Visits on Patient Outcomes. *Home Healthcare Nurse: The Journal for the Home Care and Hospice Professional*, 25(2), 103–109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00004045-200702000-00011</u>
- Rogers, J., Perlic, M., Madigan, E.A. (2007). The effect of frontloading visits on patient outcomes. *Home Healthcare Nurse*, 25(2), 103–109.
- Roter, D.L., Hall, J.A., Merisca, R., Nordstrom, B., Cretin, D., & Svarstad, B. (1998). Effectiveness of Interventions to Improve Patient Compliance. *Medical Care*, 36(8), 1138–1161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00005650-199808000-00004</u>
- Ruppar, T. M., Conn, V. S., & Russell, C. L. (2008, June 1). Medication adherence Interventions for older adults: literature review. *Scholarly Inquiry for Nursing Practice*, 22(2), 114– 147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1891/0889-7182.22.2.114</u>

- Sahin, I. (2006). Detailed review of Rogers' diffusion of innovations theory and educational technology-related studies based on Rogers' theory. *The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 5, 14-23.
- Schrader, P.G. & Lawless, K. (2004). The knowledge, attitudes, & behaviors approach: how to evaluate performance and learning in complex environments. *Performance Improvement.*, 43, 8-15. DOI:<u>10.1002/pfi.4140430905</u>
- Schreier, G., Schwarz, M., Modre-Osprian, R., Kastner, P., Scherr, D., & Fruhwald, F. (2013). Design and evaluation of a multimodal mHealth based medication management system for patient self-administration. 2013 35th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), Osaka, Japan. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/embc.2013.6611236</u>
- Shortliffe E.H., Cimino, J.J. (2014). *Biomedical Informatics: Computer Applications in Health Care and Biomedicine (Health Informatics)* 4th ed., 541-60. Springer-Verlag London.
- Sokol, M.C., McGuigan, K.A., Verbrugge, R.R. and Epstein, R.S. (2005). Impact of medication adherence on hospitalization risk and health care cost. *Medical Care*, 43(6), 521-530.
- Soumerai, S.B. (2003). Unintended outcomes of Medicaid drug cost-containment policies on the chronically mentally ill. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 64 [Supp. 17], S19-22.
- Stegemann, S., Baeyens, J-P., Cerreta, F., Chanie, E., Löfgren, A., Maio, M., Thesing-Bleck, E. (2012). Adherence measurement systems and technology for medications in older patient populations. *European Geriatric Medicine*, 3(4), 254–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurger.2012.05.004
- Steiner, A. & Vetter, W. (1995) Patienten-compliance. Möglichkeiten zur Verbesserung. *Schweizerische Rundshau fur Medizin Praxis*, 84, 58–62.
- Schwamm, L.H. (2004). Telehealth: Seven Strategies to Successfully Implement Disruptive Technology and Transform Health Care. *Health Affairs*, *33*(2), 200–206. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2013.1021
- Taunton RL, Bott MJ, Koehn ML, Miller P, Rindner E, Pace K, Elliott C, Bradley KJ, Boyle D, Dunton N. (2004). The NDNQI-Adapted Index of work satisfaction. *Journal of Nursing*, 12(2):101-22. doi: 10.1891/jnum.2004.12.2.101

- The American Telemedicine Association ATA 2017 Telehealth 2.0 Conference Abstracts. (2017). *Telemedicine and e-Health*, 23(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2017.29005-a.abstracts</u>
- Tracy, M. F., O'Grady, E. T., & Phillips, S. J. (2022). *Hamric & Hanson's Advanced Practice Nursing - E-Book: An Integrative Approach*. Elsevier Health Sciences.
- Unruh MA, Jung HY, Kaushal R, Vest JR. (2017). Hospitalization event notifications and reductions in readmissions of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries in the Bronx, New York. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 24(e1): e150-e156. doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocw139
- Van Camp, Y., Van Rompaey, B., Elseviers, M. (2013). Nurse-led interventions to enhance adherence to chronic medication: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 69: 761–70.
- Vermeire, E., Hearnshaw, H., Van Royen, P., & Denekens, J. (2001). Patient adherence to treatment: three decades of research. A comprehensive review. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics*, 26(5), 331–342. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2710.2001.00363</u>
- Vrijens, B., & Goetghebeur, E. (1997). Comparing compliance patterns between randomized treatments. *Controlled Clinical Trials*, *18*(*3*), 187-203.
- Wolfe. S.C., Schirm, V. (1992). Medication counseling for the elderly: effects on knowledge and compliance after hospital discharge. *Geriatric Nursing*, *May/June*, 134-138.
- Wonglimpiyarat, J., & Yuberk, N. (2005). In support of innovation management and Rogers's Innovation Diffusion theory. *Government Information Quarterly*, 22(3), 411–422. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2005.05.005</u>
- World Health Organization (2011). *World Health Statistics 2011*. <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241564199</u>
- World Health Organization. (1986, January 1). Young people's health a challenge for society: report of a WHO Study Group on Young People and "Health for All by the Year 2000" [meeting held in Geneva from 4 to 8 June 1984]. World Health Organization. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/41720</u>

Appendices

Appendix 1A: Institutional Review Board Approval



03/23/2022

Diane Logan Seton Hall University

Re: Study ID# 2022-302

Dear Diane,

The Research Ethics Committee of the Seton Hall University Institutional Review Board reviewed and approved your research proposal entitled "Visiting Nurses' Knowledge, Attitudes and Beliefs Regarding Telehealth to Promote Medication Compliance in the Elderly Population" as resubmitted. This memo serves as official notice of the aforementioned study's approval as exempt. Enclosed for your records are the stamped original Consent Form and recruitment flyer. You can make copies of these forms for your use.

The Institutional Review Board approval of your research is valid for a one-year period from the date of this letter. During this time, any changes to the research protocol, informed consent form or study team must be reviewed and approved by the IRB prior to their implementation.

You will receive a communication from the Institutional Review Board at least 1 month prior to your expiration date requesting that you submit an Annual Progress Report to keep the study active, or a Final Review of Human Subjects Research form to close the study. In all future correspondence with the Institutional Review Board, please reference the ID# listed above.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Sincerely,

Mara C. Podvey, PhD, Associate Professor

yllis Handell

Phyllis Hansell, EdD, RN, DNAP, FAAN Professor Co-Chair, Institutional Review Board Co-Chair, Institutional Review Board

Office of the Institutional Review Board Presidents Hall · 400 South Orange Avenue · South Orange, New Jersey 07079 · Tel: 973.275.4654 · Fax 973.275.2978 www.shu.edu WHAT GREAT MINDS CAN DO

Appendix 1B: Informed Consent Form



Institutional Review Board Application for a New Human Subjects Research Investigation

Seton Hall University Institutional Review Board MAR 2 3 2022 Approval Date Expiration Date

Informed Consent Form

MAR 2 3 2023

Title of Research Study: Visiting Nurses' Knowledge, Attitudes and Beliefs Regarding Telehealth to Promote Medication Compliance in the Elderly Population

Principal Investigator: Diane Renee Logan MSN, RN, CSN- Doctoral Student

Department Affiliation: Department of Interprofessional Health Sciences and Healthcare Administration, PhD in Health Sciences Program, Seton Hall University

Sponsor: This research is supported by Health Recovery Solutions and Seton Hall University

Summary about this research study:

The following summary of this research study is to help you decide whether or not you want to participate in the study. You have the right to ask questions at any time.

Since home care nursing visits are limited, visiting nurses can utilize telehealth to fill the visit void and address medication noncompliance issues daily. However, nurses' knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs, regarding this innovation and their readiness to employ it may negatively impact their utilization of this strategy. Therefore, the purpose of this study is to understand, what are home health nurse's knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs, regarding employing Telehealth practices to promote medication compliance of community-dwelling elderly patients and their perception of their organizations readiness to support telehealth practices.

You will be asked to participate in an online one-on-one semi-structured interview. The PI will arrange via email a Microsoft Teams' conference meeting. Consent will be obtained via email prior to scheduling the interview. The interview will be conducted using Microsoft Teams and audio recorded only via Microsoft Teams for later transcription by the PI. The interview will take approximately 45 min to 1 hour on one day. Exploring visiting nurses' knowledge, values and beliefs organizations readiness to support the use of telehealth technology by visiting nurses will enhance the quality of life for the elderly home dwelling population. There are no primary risks to participating in the study. There are no main benefits of participation other than the positive feeling you may have from knowing that you are helping to advance knowledge specific to visiting nurses' knowledge, values and beliefs, and overall acceptance of telehealth technology.

Purpose of the research study:

You are being asked to take part in this research study because you meet the inclusion criteria, which are the following:

 licensed registered nurses employed by a home health agency that worked with the elderly population.

Human Subjects Application.v2.2020-2021